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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including
information with respect to our future business plans, constitute
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act. For this purpose, any
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be
deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the
words "believes," "plans," "expects" and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. There are a number of important factors
that could cause our results to differ materially from those indicated by such
forward-looking statements. These factors include those set forth in Part II
"Factors that May Affect Future Results and Market Price of Stock."

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
THE FIREPOND SOLUTION

FirePond is a leading provider of integrated e-business selling solutions.
With our software, companies are able to standardize their enterprise e-business
sales strategies on a single Internet-based platform by applying consistent,
consultative selling practices across all sales channels simultaneously.
Capturing real-time customer information from automated selling interactions,
companies can coordinate immediate, intelligent responses to every revenue
opportunity. Unlike niche solutions that assist with only discreet aspects of
the selling cycle, or are oriented to one channel only, FirePond enhances the
entire sale, in every channel.

Our comprehensive package for enterprise selling, the FirePond
SalesPerformer Suite(TM), allows companies to offer personalized products and
services to customers via an e-commerce web site, or from a direct salesperson,
distributor, dealer or agent. The SalesPerformer Suite enables companies to:

— Deliver a fully integrated cross-channel selling system for complex
selling environments

- Ensure consistency in the selling process no matter what the channel

- Enable companies to initiate appropriate processes throughout the
enterprise

— Integrate with back office applications for fulfillment

By utilizing the SalesPerformer Suite to deliver consultative selling over
the Internet and through other channels, companies can dramatically increase
their market reach, win rate, order value and ultimately, revenue and market
share. Underlying the SalesPerformer Suite's selling functionality is the
ability to dynamically integrate event-driven data with business processes and
existing systems. FirePond's process-oriented technology initiates and
synchronizes sales and marketing processes based on accurate, real-time customer
data. For example, information from a customer's web interaction can
automatically update sales forecasts, alert a local sales representative to make
a follow-up call, generate a customer service action, update marketing about
campaign effectiveness and regional product preferences, populate customer
databases with comprehensive and more accurate customer data and feed real-time,
feature-specific data into supply-chain management systems. The result is a
customer—-driven, enterprise e-business model that unifies all selling channels.

STRATEGY

Our goal is to be the leading provider of integrated e-business selling
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solutions. To achieve this goal, key elements of our strategy include:

EXPAND OUR E-BUSINESS SOLUTIONS. Our development organization creates a
highly scalable product delivery model that allows us to introduce new product
features and functionality. We also plan to expand the functionality of our
e-business solutions through strategic relationships and merger and acquisition
activities. We believe that these combined resources provide us with the ability
to expand the functionality of our products and incorporate new technologies to
meet the demands of the marketplace.

EXPAND MARKET REACH THROUGH TARGETED SALES AND MARKETING. We intend to
expand our global sales capabilities by increasing the number of direct sales
personnel. We also intend to launch an integrated worldwide marketing campaign
to raise visibility for FirePond's solutions in the marketplace. Through
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targeted sales and marketing activities, we expect to increase worldwide market
acceptance of FirePond solutions

EXPAND RELATIONSHIPS WITH PARTNERS. Our partner program is focused is on

developing four types of relationships: (1) strategic implementation
relationships focused on co-selling; (2) complementary software relationships
focused on pre-built integration and co-selling; (3) complementary technology

relationships focused on hardware and platform standards; and (4) channel
relationships focused on OEM deals, reseller arrangements, and ASP
opportunities. Our current alliances include companies such as Accenture, Cap
Gemini, Ernst & Young, Intelligroup, IBM, Logica, Deutsche Telekom, Fujitsu,
Hitachi, BEA, E.piphany, Technology Solutions Company, SilverStream, Vignette,
Cognos, and Hyperion. These alliances help extend our market coverage from both
a sales and implementation perspective, provide us with new business leads, and
allow us to provide our customers with a broader solution. We will seek to
expand our partnership network by working with partners that support our global
strategy and partners that work with our key clients.

PURSUE TARGETED VERTICAL MARKETS. We currently focus on industries that
are characterized by complex products, services or channel relationships,
including health care/insurance, financial services, high technology,
telecommunications, automotive/trucking and manufacturing. We believe that our
focused pursuit of these targeted markets increases our ability to offer
solutions that meet the unique needs of our target customers, which may vary
greatly across industry segments. To further our vertical market focus, our
sales efforts are organized around complementary industry segments so that we
may offer more specialized, consultative expertise when customers evaluate and
license our products. We will continue to deepen our focus on target industry
markets and translate customer requirements into industry-specific product
features and functions, which we believe will create barriers to entry for our
competitors. During fiscal 2001, we also plan to expand into new vertical
industries with similar characteristics and will target leading companies in
those industries.

OFFER PACKAGING FLEXIBILITY TO STRATEGICALLY PENETRATE GLOBAL 5000
ACCOUNTS. We offer a suite of e-business products, which may be purchased as
separate components or as an enterprise platform for integrated e-business sales
and marketing solutions. This has allowed us to penetrate accounts that differ
greatly in their current stages of developing and implementing their e-business
strategies. When we are successful in selling our independent component
offerings, we create future opportunities for up-selling customers to our
enterprise platform which we intend to pursue. In addition, we offer a migration
path to an enterprise platform for integrated e-business sales and marketing
solutions to increase the likelihood that we will successfully sell our
independent components to accounts that are not yet ready for enterprise-wide
solutions. We also offer innovative pricing alternatives such as annual
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licensing and transaction-based pricing that provide our customers with a wide
variety of licensing options. We will continue to package and price our product
offerings in a fashion designed to remove sales barriers and create recurring
revenue streams.

GROW OUR INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE. During fiscal 2000, we leveraged our
investment in our global infrastructure to target leading businesses worldwide.
We have increased the number of FirePond employees internationally to 121 as of
October 31, 2000 from 78 on October 31, 1999. Our international revenue was 36%
of our total product-related revenue in fiscal 2000 from 13% in fiscal 1999. Our
leading international customers include ABB, Ford Motor Company-Europe, Hitachi,
Packard Bell/NEC, Renault V.I, and Scania and Zurich Financial Services. We plan
to use new customers and existing and new partner relationships to complement
our infrastructure and grow market share in international markets.

FIREPOND PRODUCTS

The SalesPerformer Suite delivers a comprehensive multi-channel selling
functionality, including customer profiling, needs analysis, product selection,
configuration, pricing, financing, proposal generation and order management
across web, direct and indirect selling channels. Additionally, selected
components of the suite are available in packaged solutions tailored to specific
sales channels.

The table below describes the SalesPerformer Suite and the individual
SalesPerformer channel selling solutions. Previous versions of SalesPerformer
Configurator have been used in our custom software development implementations
as well as in our prior software products.
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SALESPERFORMER SOLUTION DESCRIPTION

SalesPerformer Configurator(TM)............. Industry-leading configuration engine for
interactive selling of complex products and
services, including complex product
configuration, pricing and customer needs
analysis.

Web SalesPerformer (TM) ... vttt i it eennnns A complete system for interactive selling of
complex products and services via the
Internet.

Field SalesPerformer (TM) . ... v v i veeeeeeeennnn A complete selling solution for a direct
sales force that applies best practices and
maximizes sales force effectiveness in every
selling interaction.

Channel SalesPerformer (TM) ... v it it eennn. A complete solution for enhancing and
standardizing channel sales, by providing
dealers, brokers, partners and agents with
powerful interactive selling functionality.

SalesPerformer SUite (TM) «.ov it it eeeeennn A fully integrated, multi-channel selling
solution including the combined capabilities
of SalesPerformer Configurator, Web
SalesPerformer, Field SalesPerformer and
Channel SalesPerformer, supplemented by
opportunity management, process automation
and back-end integration features.
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FirePond Product Packaging and Pricing

We offer a variety of packaging and pricing options for the SalesPerformer
Suite, to achieve flexibility in aligning our technology with companies in
different stages of executing their e-business strategies. Customers seeking an
enterprise platform for integrated e-business sales and marketing may license
the entire SalesPerformer Suite, including all associated components. Also, to
meet companies' diverse channel selling needs, selected components of the suite
are available as individual packaged solutions tailored to specific sales
channels. With each of these channel solutions, additional functional and
technology components are available as options. By offering this variety of
packaging options, we allow our customers to make strategic investments in our
technology, without necessarily committing to a larger enterprise platform.

We also offer a wide variety of pricing options to our customers. We
currently offer our packaged software solutions and options on a price per user
or group of concurrent users basis. We also offer transaction-based pricing that
ties the overall cost of owning our software to the value provided to the
company. To date, substantially all of our licenses have been perpetual
licenses. License fees for our products typically range from approximately
several hundred thousand dollars to several million dollars.

FirePond announced the availability of the SalesPerformer Suite in December
2000. Prior to December 2000, our product line consisted of the FirePond
Application Suite, including FirePond Commerce, FirePond Sales, FirePond Sales
Manager, and FirePond Business Rule Engine. Version 1.0 of the FirePond
Application Suite was released in October 1999, and Version 2.0 was released in
July 2000. The SalesPerformer Suite is a renaming of the components that
comprised the FirePond Application Suite and a repackaging of these components
to provide an offering of different channel selling solutions and available
options that closely align with the needs of our target customers.

SalesPerformer Configurator

SalesPerformer Configurator is an industry-leading sales configuration
engine for complex products and services. SalesPerformer Configurator provides
advanced product configuration, pricing and needs analysis functionality, all
with one engine and set of data to maintain. SalesPerformer Configurator is also
available as a stand-alone component to be integrated into existing e-business
applications, and can be deployed on leading Java 2 Enterprise Edition (J2EE)
compliant application server platforms.

SalesPerformer Configurator includes an integrated set of modeling and
editing tools to develop and deploy configuration functionality into a
full-featured selling system. These intuitive tools facilitate the creation and
maintenance of a company's data model by using visual controls, drag and drop
capabilities, and spreadsheet data interfaces. Because the process of rule
building and editing is driven entirely by data rather than coding, business
users can access and change this information directly, without engaging
information technology (IT) professionals for programming assistance. The result
is a system that is easy to maintain by non-technical users, greatly reducing
costs and increasing accuracy.

Web SalesPerformer

Web SalesPerformer provides a set of functional components and tools to
rapidly deliver a highly effective e-commerce site with configuration. Web
SalesPerformer includes a set of user interface templates to serve as a starting
point for deployment. These industry-specific templates greatly reduce
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implementation times while still maintaining company control over graphic
elements, branding and feature customization.

In addition, Web SalesPerformer provides a set of components that handle
the most common tasks during a buying session. These "business objects" deliver
application functionality that can be easily modified and bound to the User
Interface (UI), reducing custom coding and resulting in faster and easier
implementation. Included SalesPerformer Web Business Objects support critical
e-commerce functions including personalized web content, interactive product
catalog, competitive comparisons, on-line configuration, and order management.

Web SalesPerformer also includes internet-based reporting functionality,
supporting both pre-defined and ad-hoc reports on e-commerce activity and
customer data, as well as comprehensive utilities for managing and administering
the system.

Field SalesPerformer

Field SalesPerformer is a selling solution for a direct sales force that
enables salespeople to instantly and interactively help their customers make a
buying decision. Using Field SalesPerformer, salespeople interactively determine
customers' needs, provide a compelling solution that best meets those needs, and
then customize and price the solution. Field SalesPerformer, in essence,
"clones" the behavior of the best salespeople and applies the expertise in every
sale.

Field SalesPerformer can be deployed in connected selling environments, or
support mobile salespeople with replication and synchronization capabilities. In
addition to providing customizable user interface templates, Field
SalesPerformer provides a set of business objects that bind to the user
interface (UI), specifically designed to assist direct selling interactions.
SalesPerformer Field Business Objects support critical tasks in the direct
selling process, including customer data capture, interactive presentations,
instant quotations, generation of proposals and contracts, and order submission
and management. Field SalesPerformer also integrates with SalesPerformer
Opportunity Manager, an event-driven sales administration platform that allows
central management of all sales leads, opportunities, accounts, contacts,
schedules, and sales process activities.

Field SalesPerformer allows salespeople to provide specialized advice and
rapid response. As a result, order errors are reduced and the sales cycle is
shortened.

Channel SalesPerformer

Channel SalesPerformer helps companies overcome channel management issues
by providing dealerships, brokers, partners and agents with the same powerful
assisted selling functionality that direct salespeople receive with Field
SalesPerformer.

By providing a connection between indirect channels and the seller, Channel
SalesPerformer gives users instant access to up-to-date customer, product and
pricing information. This means sales effectiveness is dramatically increased,
and that customers receive consistent experiences regardless of channel choice.
SalesPerformer Configurator powers Channel SalesPerformer and as a result,
indirect channels can apply
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advanced needs analysis, product configuration and pricing to each selling
interaction. As competition for channel partners increases, Channel
SalesPerformer helps attract the best partners by making it easier for them to
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sell a company's products over competitors.

Channel SalesPerformer contains sophisticated control features to limit
access to specific types of product and customer data for defined groups or
users. By easily limiting access to certain types of data, companies can reap
the benefit of updated, well-equipped indirect sales channels without the risk
of disclosing confidential information. Also, Channel SalesPerformer enables
companies to capture and track information from indirect sales channels,
ensuring valuable customer data does not "get lost" between divisions or
companies.

Like Field SalesPerfomer, Channel SalesPerformer also integrates seamlessly
with SalesPerformer Opportunity Manager, which provides lead management and team
selling across all sales points and automates administrative processes and
information flow.

SALESPERFORMER SUITE

The SalesPerformer Suite combines the individual products and options to
help tie the web, direct and indirect channel selling solutions together,
ensuring that sales organizations have one view of the customer across channels
and allowing selling tasks to be driven automatically by customer events. By
combining a powerful sales configuration engine with channel selling
applications, opportunity management, event-driven workflow and back-office
connectivity, the SalesPerformer Suite delivers a fully integrated multi-channel
selling system.

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND SUPPORT

We offer a range of professional services that help companies use the
packaged software functionality of the SalesPerformer Suite to create
deployments that are highly specific to their businesses. Our professional
services personnel typically have extensive experience in the deployment of
enterprise-scale selling systems, as many have participated in projects
associated with our prior custom development services business model. When we
assist companies in the implementation of the SalesPerformer Suite, or one of
its components, we help them determine how their individual selling strategies
can be reflected in our packaged technology, then provide specialized
professional services resources who use SalesPerformer Workbench to assist in
the creation of a functional application workflow, data models, automated
enterprise processes, highly branded user interfaces, and functional extensions
to our packaged software applications to support those strategies.

We may also involve third-party systems integrators to perform these roles
and supplement our professional services personnel on particular accounts.

We provide support services, as well as software upgrades, under annual
software maintenance contracts. These annual maintenance contracts are renewable
at the company's option. Our support services are available seven days per week,
24 hours per day, and 365 days per year.

SALES AND MARKETING

We market and sell our products primarily through our direct sales force,
which is located throughout North America, Europe and Asia. In North America,
the FirePond sales organization is focused on our targeted vertical markets,
with resources assigned to health care/insurance, financial services, high
technology, telecommunications, automotive/trucking and manufacturing. In Europe
and Asia, the FirePond sales organization is deployed by geographic region, but
focuses on the same vertical markets that we target in North America.

We have multi-disciplined sales teams that consist of sales, technical and
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sales support professionals. Our senior management also takes an active role in
our sales efforts. Frequently, we use SalesPerformer Workbench to develop
customer-specific demonstrations of Web SalesPerformer and Field and Channel
SalesPerformers to support selling cycles which we or our partners then use as a
basis for the actual full-scale implementations. We typically direct our sales
efforts to the chief executive officer, the chief information

officer, the vice presidents of sales and marketing and other senior executives
responsible for e-business or multiple selling strategies at our customers'
organizations.

We have sales offices in Waltham, Massachusetts; Bloomington, Minnesota;
Chicago, Illinois; Bloomfield Hills, Michigan; Norcross, Georgia; Irvine,
California; Oakland, California; Burnsville, Minnesota; Sewickly, Pennsylvania;
Chesterfield, Missouri; Naarden, The Netherlands; Duesseldorf, Germany; Fleet,
England; Paris, France; Hong Kong; Basel, Switzerland; Stockholm, Sweden;
Sydney, Australia and Tokyo, Japan. As of October 31, 2000, our worldwide sales
organization consisted of 80 employees.

A key element of our growth strategy is the formation of strategic
relationships with industry leaders whose business offerings complement our own.
We believe that these relationships allow us to scale our business rapidly and
effectively, by enabling the expansion of our:

- global brand exposure;
— pipeline of qualified sales opportunities;

- capacity to effectively implement our software offerings for new
customers; and

- ability to deliver enhanced value to our customers.

FirePond has successfully established relationships with large,
international systems integrators and consulting services companies, including
Accenture, Cap Gemini, Ernst & Young, Intelligroup, IBM, Logica, Deutsche
Telekom, Fujitsu, Hitachi and BEA. We intend to expand these relationships and
add new relationships in this area to increase our capacity to sell and
implement our products on a global basis. With existing partners, such as Cap
Gemini, Ernst & Young and Intelligroup, we align our relationships to coincide
with our target vertical markets, including the healthcare/insurance,
telecommunications, and automotive market sectors. We will continue to pursue
relationships that augment our vertical market strategy.

FirePond also has relationships with vendors whose products are generally
believed to be complementary to our own, including E.piphany, Technology
Solutions Company, SilverStream, Vignette, Cognos and Hyperion. On an ongoing
basis, we will pursue additional technology relationships that increase our
value to potential customers, expand our ability to offer integrated enterprise
solutions, and increase our market opportunities.

As of October 31, 2000, FirePond had 4 employees focused on the development
of corporate partnerships and strategic alliances. In addition, our senior
management takes an active role in the development of these key relationships.

FirePond's marketing organization utilizes a variety of programs to support
our sales efforts, including market and product research analysis, product and
strategy updates with industry analysts, public relations activities and
speaking engagements, internet-based and direct mail marketing programs,
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seminars and trade shows, brochures, data sheets and white papers and web site
marketing.

As of October 31, 2000, FirePond's marketing organization consisted of 21
employees.

CUSTOMERS

FirePond has targeted and will continue to target selected vertical
industries with complex products, services or channel relationships, including
health care/insurance, financial services, high technology, telecommunications,
automotive/trucking and manufacturing. The following is a list of some of our
better-known customers to whom we have provided our products or services in
fiscal 1999 or 2000:

ABB

American Isuzu Motors

Blue Cross Blue Shield of
Minnesota

Blue Cross Blue Shield Carefirst

Compaqg

Cummins Power Generation
Group

Empire HealthChoice

Ford Motor Company —-- Europe

Freightliner

Fujitsu

Hitachi

Ingersoll-Rand

Invesmart

John Deere

KLA-Tencor

Packard Bell/NEC

Renault V.I.

Ricoh

Savings Bank Life Insurance

Scania

Sikorsky

Zurich Financial Services

In fiscal 2000, General Motors and Freightliner each accounted for more
than 10% of our total revenue. In fiscal 1999, General Motors and Blue Cross
Blue Shield of Minnesota each accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue.
In fiscal 1998, General Motors, John Deere and Ingersoll-Rand each accounted for
more than 10% of our total revenue.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

As of October 31, 2000, FirePond employed 109 people in research and
development throughout its U.S. offices. This team is responsible for product
planning and design, development of particular functionality within the
SalesPerformer Suite and general release and quality assurance functions.

We contract with a third party, Soft 0S, to provide software development
and implementation services on an outsourced basis. Soft OS subcontracts to have
these services provided to us by Effective Programming, a development
organization located in Minsk, Belarus, and EPAM Systems, a related development
organization located in New Jersey. Under this arrangement, Effective
Programming and EPAM Systems provide software developers dedicated to our

10
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projects to develop products and application functionality based on
specifications provided by us and to provide implementation services to our
customers. The agreement expires in February 2002. As of October 31, 2000,
approximately 156 employees and contractors of Effective Programming and EPAM
Systems were performing services for us. Each of Effective Programming and EPAM
Systems 1s majority owned by one of our employees, Arkadiy Dobkin, our vice
president of product research and development.

Our research and development expenses were $15.3 million for fiscal 2000,
$9.6 million for fiscal 1999, and $8.2 million for fiscal 1998. We expect to
continue to invest significantly in research and development in the future.

COMPETITION
The market for e-business sales and marketing solutions is intensely

competitive, fragmented and subject to rapid technological change. The principal
competitive factors in this market include:

adherence to emerging Internet-based technology standards;
— comprehensiveness of applications;
- adaptability, flexibility and scalability;

- real-time, interactive capability with customers, partners, vendors and
suppliers;

- ability to support vertical industry requirements;
- ease of application use and deployment;
- speed of implementation;

- customer service and support; and

initial price and total cost of ownership.

Because we offer both independent packaged applications, as well as an
enterprise platform for integrated e-business sales and marketing solutions, we
consider a number of companies in different market categories to be our
competitors. Companies focused on providing sales configuration solutions for
e—-commerce and traditional sales channels include Calico Commerce, Selectica and
Trilogy Software. Companies that offer enterprise platforms for customer
relationship management include Siebel Systems, SAP and Oracle Corporation.
Finally companies offering e-commerce software that focuses on a specific aspect
of the customer relationship or buying process, including personalization,
content management or self-service applications, include BroadVision and
Vignette. There are a substantial number of other companies focused on providing
Internet-based software applications for customer relationship management that
may offer competitive products in the future. We believe that the market for
integrated e-business sales and marketing solutions is still in its formative
stage, and that no currently identified competitor represents a dominant
presence in this market.
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We expect competition to increase as a result of software industry
consolidation. For example, a number of enterprise software companies have
acquired point solution providers to expand their product offerings. Our
competitors may also package their products in ways which may discourage users
from purchasing our products. Current and potential competitors may establish
alliances among themselves or with third parties or adopt aggressive pricing

11
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policies to gain market share. In addition, new competitors could emerge and
rapidly capture market share.

Although we believe we have advantages over our competitors in terms of the
comprehensiveness of our solution, as well as our targeted vertical focus, there
can be no assurance that we can maintain our competitive position against
current and potential competitors, especially those with longer operating
histories, greater name recognition and substantially greater financial,
technical, marketing, management, service, support and other resources.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We believe our intellectual property rights are significant and that the
loss of all or a substantial portion of our intellectual property rights could
seriously harm our success and ability to compete. We rely on a combination of
copyright, patent, trade secret, trademark, and other intellectual property law,
nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect our
proprietary rights. There can be no assurance that our intellectual property
protection measures will be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our
technology. Some of our contracts with our customers contain escrow arrangements
with a third party escrow agent which provide these companies with access to our
source code, and other intellectual property upon the occurrence of specified
events. This access could enable these companies to use our intellectual
property and source code creating a risk of disclosure or other inappropriate
use. Our third-party development organization located in Minsk, Belarus and New
Jersey has access to our source code and other intellectual property rights.
Despite our contractual protections, this access could enable them to use our
intellectual property and source code to wrongfully develop and manufacture
competing products, which would adversely affect our performance and ability to
compete. In addition, we cannot be certain that others will not independently
develop substantially equivalent intellectual property, gain access to our trade
secrets or intellectual property, or disclose our intellectual property or trade
secrets. Furthermore, the laws of many foreign countries do not protect our
intellectual property to the same extent as the laws of the United States. From
time to time, we may desire or be required to renew or to obtain licenses from
others to enable us to develop and market commercially viable products
effectively. There can be no assurances that any necessary licenses will be
available on reasonable terms, if at all.

From time to time, third parties may assert claims or initiate litigation
against us or our technology partners alleging that our existing or future
products infringe their proprietary rights. We could be increasingly subject to
infringement claims as the number of products and competitors in the market for
our technology grows and the functionality of products overlaps. In addition, we
may in the future initiate claims or litigation against third parties for
infringement of our proprietary rights to determine the scope and validity of
our proprietary rights. Any claims, with or without merit, could be
time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and
management personnel or require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter
into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing agreements, if
required, may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

EMPLOYEES

At October 31, 2000, we had a total of 468 employees, of which 109 were in
research and development, 101 were in sales and marketing, 70 were in finance
and administration, and 188 were in professional services and support. None of
our employees is represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work
stoppages and consider our relations with our employees to be good.

11
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FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS AND MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK
WE EXPECT TO CONTINUE TO INCUR LOSSES AND MAY NOT BE PROFITABLE IN THE FUTURE

We have incurred quarterly and annual losses intermittently since we were
formed in 1983, and regularly since fiscal 1997. We incurred net losses of $9.0
million for fiscal 1998, $28.9 million for fiscal 1999, and $16.3 million for
fiscal 2000. We expect to continue to incur losses on both a quarterly and
annual basis and we are uncertain if or when we will become profitable.
Moreover, we expect to continue to incur significant sales and marketing and
research and development expenses, and, as a result, we will need to generate
significant revenues to achieve and maintain profitability. We may not sustain
our growth or generate sufficient revenues to attain profitability.

DISAPPOINTING QUARTERLY REVENUES OR OPERATING RESULTS COULD CAUSE THE PRICE OF
OUR COMMON STOCK TO FALL

We currently derive a significant portion of our license revenues in each
quarter from a small number of relatively large orders, and we generally
recognize revenues from our licenses over the related implementation period. If
we are unable to recognize revenues from one or more substantial license sales
planned for a particular fiscal quarter, our operating results for that quarter
would be seriously harmed. In addition, the purchase of our products typically
involves a substantial commitment of resources by our customers or their
consultants over an extended period of time. The time required to complete an
implementation may vary from customer to customer and may be protracted due to
unforeseen circumstances. Because our revenues from implementation, maintenance
and training services are largely correlated with our license revenues, a
decline in license revenues would also cause a decline in our services revenues
in the same quarter and in subsequent quarters. Because our sales cycle is long,
we may have difficulty predicting when we will recognize revenues. If our
quarterly revenues or operating results fall below the expectations of investors
or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could fall substantially,
and we could become subject to securities class—action litigation. Litigation,
if instituted, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management's
attention and resources, which would materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

A DECLINE IN INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SPENDING COULD REDUCE THE SALE OF OUR
PRODUCTS

Average license fees for our products typically range from approximately
several hundred thousand dollars to several million dollars. Often this
represents a significant IT capital expenditure for the companies to which we
target our sales efforts. If a decline in IT spending should occur, whether
resulting from a weakened economy or other factors, we may be unable to maintain
or increase our sales volumes and achieve our targeted revenue growth.

BECAUSE WE HAVE A LIMITED OPERATING HISTORY AS A SOFTWARE COMPANY, OUR FUTURE
SUCCESS IS UNCERTAIN

Although FirePond was incorporated in 1983, we have only been focused on
providing software products since 1997. Because we have only been focused on
providing software products for a short time, we have a limited operating
history pursuing this business model. The revenue and income potential of the
market for e-business sales and marketing solutions is unproven. As a result,
our historical financial statements are not an accurate indicator of our future
operating results. In addition, we have limited insight into trends that may
emerge and affect our business, and we cannot forecast operating expenses based
on our historical results. In evaluating FirePond, you should consider the risks
and uncertainties frequently encountered by early stage companies in new and
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rapidly evolving markets. If we are not able to successfully address these
risks, our business could be harmed.

A SIGNIFICANT PERCENTAGE OF OUR PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT IS PERFORMED BY A THIRD
PARTY INTERNATIONALLY, THE LOSS OF WHICH WOULD SUBSTANTIALLY HARM OUR PRODUCT
DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS

A significant percentage of our product development work, and some of our
implementation services, are performed by a third-party development organization
in Minsk, Belarus. Unpredictable developments in the political, economic and
social conditions in Belarus, or our failure to renew our consulting agreement
with this organization on terms similar to our current agreement, could
eliminate or reduce the availability of these

12

product development and implementation services. If access to these services
were to be unexpectedly eliminated or significantly reduced, our ability to meet
development objectives vital to our ongoing strategy would be hindered, and our
business could be seriously harmed.

THE SUCCESS OF OUR BUSINESS DEPENDS ON THE SALESPERFORMER SUITE, WHICH HAS BEEN
RECENTLY INTRODUCED AND MAY NOT BE WIDELY ADOPTED BY OUR CUSTOMERS

We expect to derive substantially all of our product license revenues in
the future from FirePond Application Suite and its component products, which
were released in October 1999, and renamed and repackaged as the SalesPerformer
Suite in December 2000. Our business depends on the successful release,
introduction and customer acceptance of this new suite of products. We expect
that we will continue to depend on revenues from new and enhanced versions of
the SalesPerformer Suite, and our business would be harmed if our target
customers do not adopt and expand their use of the SalesPerformer Suite and its
component products.

DIFFICULTIES AND FINANCIAL BURDENS ASSOCIATED WITH ACQUISITIONS COULD HARM OUR
BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL RESULTS

We consider acquiring complementary businesses and technologies from time
to time. If we make an acquisition, we could issue equity securities which would
dilute current stockholders' percentage ownership, incur substantial debt,
assume contingent liabilities, incur a one-time charge or be required to
amortize goodwill. Additionally, we may not be able to successfully integrate
any technologies, products, personnel or operations of companies that we may
acquire in the future. These difficulties could disrupt our ongoing business,
distract our management and employees, and increase our expenses. If we are
unable to successfully address any of these risks, our business could be
seriously harmed.

WE DEPEND ON KEY PERSONNEL AND MUST ATTRACT AND RETAIN ADDITIONAL QUALIFIED
PERSONNEL TO BE SUCCESSFUL

Our success depends upon the continued contributions of our senior sales,
engineering and management personnel, who perform important functions, and would
be difficult to replace. Specifically, we believe that our future success is
highly dependent on Klaus P. Besier, our chairman and chief executive officer,
and other senior management personnel. The loss of the services of any key
personnel, particularly senior management and engineers, could seriously harm
our business.

In addition, our success depends in large part upon our ability to attract,
train, motivate and retain highly skilled employees, particularly sales and
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marketing personnel, software engineers and other senior personnel. Our failure
to attract and retain the highly trained technical personnel that are integral
to our product development, professional services, sales and support teams may
limit our ability to develop new products or product enhancements.

FAILURE TO EXPAND OUR RELATIONSHIPS WITH SYSTEMS INTEGRATORS AND CONSULTING
FIRMS WOULD IMPEDE ACCEPTANCE OF OUR PRODUCTS AND DELAY THE GROWTH OF OUR
REVENUES

At times we rely on systems integrators and consulting firms to recommend
our products to their customers and to install and support our products for
their customers. To increase our revenues and implementation capabilities, we
must develop and expand our relationships with systems integrators and
consulting firms. If these firms fail to implement our products successfully for
their clients, we may not have the resources to implement our products on the
schedule required by the client which would result in our inability to recognize
revenues from the license of our products to these customers.

OUR STOCK PRICE MAY CONTINUE TO BE VOLATILE WHICH MAY LEAD TO LOSSES BY
INVESTORS AND RESULT IN SECURITIES LITIGATION

The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be
highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in price in response
to various factors, many of which are beyond our control, including quarterly
variations in our results of operations; changes in recommendations by the
investment community or in their estimates of our revenues or operating results;
speculation in the press or investment

10
13

community; strategic actions by our competitors, such as product announcements
or acquisitions; and general market conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general and the Nasdag National Market and
securities of Internet and software companies in particular, have experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or
disproportionate to their operating performance. These broad market and industry
factors may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock,
regardless of our actual operating performance. Litigation, if instituted, could
result in substantial costs and a diversion of management's attention and
resources, which would materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

FAILURE TO INCREASE OUR INTERNATIONAL REVENUES COULD SERIOUSLY HARM OUR BUSINESS

International revenues currently account for a significant percentage of
our total revenues. We expect international revenues to continue to account for
a significant percentage of total revenues in the future and we believe that we
must continue to expand our international sales activities to be successful.
However, foreign markets for our products may develop more slowly than currently
anticipated. International revenues as a percentage of total product-related
revenues were 13% in fiscal 1999 and 36% in fiscal 2000. Our failure to expand
our international sales could have a significant negative impact on our
business.

FAILURE TO EFFECTIVELY MANAGE OUR GEOGRAPHICALLY DISPERSED ORGANIZATION COULD
HAVE A SIGNIFICANT NEGATIVE IMPACT ON OUR BUSINESS OPERATIONS

If we fail to manage our geographically dispersed organization, we may fail
to meet or exceed our objectives and our revenues may decline. We perform
research and development activities in Minnesota, New Jersey, Massachusetts and
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Belarus, and our executive officers and other key employees are similarly
dispersed throughout the United States, Europe and Asia. This geographic
dispersion requires significant management resources that our locally based
competitors do not need to devote to their operations. In addition, the
expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional
international markets will require significant management attention and
financial resources.

INTEGRATION OF A NEW MANAGEMENT TEAM AND NEW PERSONNEL AND CONTINUED RAPID
GROWTH MAY STRAIN OUR OPERATIONS

We have experienced a period of rapid growth and expansion. All members of
our senior management team have joined FirePond since May 1997, and we continue
to experience turnover at the senior management level. From July 1997 to
December 1998, significant turnover of our employees occurred in conjunction
with our change in focus from providing custom development services to providing
packaged software products. A significant increase in domestic and international
personnel will likely be necessary to address potential growth in our customer
base and market opportunities. This may place a significant burden on our
management and our internal resources. If we are not able to install adequate
systems, procedures and controls to support our future operations in an
efficient and timely manner, or if we are unable to otherwise manage growth
effectively, our business could be harmed.

INTENSE COMPETITION FROM OTHER TECHNOLOGY COMPANIES COULD PREVENT US FROM
INCREASING OR SUSTAINING REVENUES AND PREVENT US FROM ACHIEVING OR SUSTAINING
PROFITABILITY

The market for integrated e-business sales and marketing solutions is
intensely competitive and we expect that this competition will increase. Many of
our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater
name recognition and substantially greater resources than we do. Therefore, they
may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. If we are
unable to compete effectively, our revenues could significantly decline.

11
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IF E-BUSINESS SALES AND MARKETING SOLUTIONS ARE NOT WIDELY ADOPTED, WE MAY NOT
BE SUCCESSFUL

Our products address a new and emerging market for e-business sales and
marketing solutions. The failure of this market to develop, or a delay in the
development of this market, would seriously harm our business. The success of
e-business sales and marketing solutions depends substantially upon the
widespread adoption of the Internet as a primary medium for commerce and
business applications. The Internet infrastructure may not be able to support
the demands placed on it by the continued growth upon which our success depends.
Moreover, critical issues concerning the commercial use of the Internet, such as
security, reliability, cost, accessibility and quality of service, remain
unresolved and may negatively affect the growth of Internet use or the
attractiveness of commerce and business communication over the Internet.

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO INTRODUCE NEW AND ENHANCED PRODUCTS ON A TIMELY BASIS THAT
RESPOND EFFECTIVELY TO CHANGING TECHNOLOGY, OUR REVENUES MAY DECLINE

Our market is characterized by rapid technological change, changes in
customer requirements, frequent new product and service introductions and
enhancements, and evolving industry standards. Advances in Internet technology
or in e-commerce software applications, or the development of entirely new
technologies to replace existing software, could lead to new competitive
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products that have better performance or lower prices than our products and
could render our products obsolete and unmarketable. In addition, if a new
software language or operating system becomes standard or is widely adopted in
our industry, we may need to rewrite portions of our products in another
computer language or for another operating system to remain competitive. If we
are unable to develop new and enhanced products on a timely basis that respond
to changing technology, our business could be seriously harmed.

WE DEPEND ON TECHNOLOGY LICENSED TO US BY THIRD PARTIES, THE LOSS OF WHICH COULD
ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR COMPETITIVE POSITION

We license technology from a small number of software providers for use
with our products. In addition, the effective implementation of our products
depends upon the successful operation of third-party licensed technology in
conjunction with our products. We anticipate that we will continue to license
and rely on technology from third parties in the future. This technology may not
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and some
of the technology we license would be difficult to replace. The loss of the use
of this technology would result in delays in the license and implementation of
our products until equivalent technology, if available, is identified, licensed
and integrated. In turn, this could prevent the implementation or impair the
functionality of our products, delay new product introductions, or injure our
reputation.

CLAIMS MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST US IF WE HIRE FORMER EMPLOYEES OF OUR COMPETITORS,
WHICH MAY CAUSE US TO INCUR SUBSTANTIAL COSTS

Companies in the software industry, whose employees accept positions with
competitors, frequently claim that those competitors have breached, or
encouraged the breach of, noncompetition and nondisclosure agreements. These
claims have been made against us in the past, and we may receive claims in the
future as we hire additional qualified personnel. If a claim were to be made
against us, it could result in material litigation. We could incur substantial
costs in defending ourselves against any of these claims, regardless of the
merits of these claims.

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT,
OUR ABILITY TO SUSTAIN OR GROW OUR BUSINESS WILL BE HARMED

Our ability to continue to grow, to retain current and future customers and
to recognize revenues from our licenses depends in part upon the quality of our
professional service and customer support operations. Failure to offer adequate
integration, consulting and other professional services in connection with the
implementation of our products, and ongoing customer support, either directly or
through third parties, could materially and adversely affect our operating
results and reputation, and could cause demand for our products to decline.

12
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IFF OUR NEW AND COMPLEX PRODUCTS FAIL TO PERFORM PROPERLY, OUR REVENUES WOULD BE
ADVERSELY AFFECTED

Software products as complex as ours may contain undetected errors, or
bugs, which result in product failures, or may cause our products to fail to
meet our customers' expectations. Our products may be particularly susceptible
to bugs or performance degradation because of the evolving nature of Internet
technologies and the stress that full deployment of our products over the
Internet to thousands of end-users may cause. Product performance problems could
result in loss of or delay in revenues, loss of market share, failure to achieve
market acceptance, diversion of development resources or injury to our
reputation.

17



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS RELATED TO OUR CUSTOMERS' CRITICAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS
COULD RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL COSTS

Our products are critical to the business operations of our customers. If
one of our products fails, a customer may assert a claim for substantial damages
against us, regardless of our responsibility for the failure. Our product
liability insurance may not cover claims brought against us. Product liability
claims could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation or to
pay significant damages. Any product liability claims, whether or not
successful, could seriously damage our reputation and our business.

OUR LIMITED ABILITY TO PROTECT OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY MAY HARM OUR ABILITY TO
COMPETE

Our success and ability to compete is dependent in part upon our
proprietary technology. Any infringement of our proprietary rights could result
in significant litigation costs, and any failure to adequately protect our
proprietary rights could result in our competitors offering similar products,
potentially resulting in loss of a competitive advantage and decreased revenues.
Existing patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws afford only limited
protection. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our
proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.
Therefore, we may not be able to protect our proprietary rights against
unauthorized third party copying or use. Furthermore, policing the unauthorized
use of our products is difficult. Some of our contractual arrangements provide
third parties with access to our source code and other intellectual property
upon the occurrence of specified events. This access could enable these third
parties to use our intellectual property and source code to develop and
manufacture competing products, which would adversely affect our performance and
ability to compete. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our
intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the
validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. This litigation could
result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could materially
adversely affect our future operating results.

CLAIMS ALLEGING INFRINGEMENT OF A THIRD PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY COULD
RESULT IN SIGNIFICANT EXPENSE TO US AND RESULT IN OUR LOSS OF SIGNIFICANT RIGHTS

The software and other Internet-related industries are characterized by the
existence of frequent litigation of intellectual property rights. From time to
time, third parties may assert patent, copyright, trademark and other
intellectual property rights to technologies that are important to our business.
Any claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly
litigation, divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, cause
product shipment delays, disrupt our relationships with our customers or require
us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, any of which could have a
material adverse effect upon our operating results. Royalty or licensing
agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at
all. If a claim against us 1s successful and we cannot obtain a license to the
relevant technology on acceptable terms, license a substitute technology or
redesign our products to avoid infringement, our business, financial condition
and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

CONTROL BY OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND ASSOCIATED ENTITIES MAY LIMIT
YOUR ABILITY TO INFLUENCE THE OUTCOME OF DIRECTOR ELECTIONS AND OTHER MATTERS
REQUIRING STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL

As of December 31, 2000 our executive officers, directors and entities
associated with them own approximately 48% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock. These stockholders have significant influence over matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and
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the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. This
concentration of ownership could have
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the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our control or discouraging a
potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could
have a material adverse effect on the market price of the common stock or
prevent our stockholders from realizing a premium over the market price for
their shares of common stock.

FUTURE SALES OF OUR STOCK COULD CAUSE OUR STOCK PRICE TO FALL

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public
market after this offering could cause the market price of our common stock to
decline. In addition, the sale of these shares could impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities.

PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BY-LAWS MAY MAKE A TAKEOVER
MORE DIFFICULT AND LOWER THE VALUE OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and in Delaware
corporate law may make it difficult and expensive for a third party to pursue a
tender offer, change in control or takeover attempt that is opposed by our
management. Public stockholders who might desire to participate in such a
transaction may not have an opportunity to do so, and the ability of public
stockholders to change our management could be substantially impeded by these
anti-takeover provisions. For example, we have a staggered board of directors
and the right under our charter documents to issue preferred stock without
further stockholder approval, which could adversely affect the holders of our
common stock.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Waltham, Massachusetts and occupy
approximately 29,500 square feet. Our lease for this facility expires on
December 31, 2004. In addition, we have three facilities located in Minnesota.
Our lease in Mankato, Minnesota of approximately 21,000 square feet expires on
November 30, 2003. We are currently operating under three separate leases in
Bloomington, Minnesota all located in the same building. One includes
approximately 12,100 square feet with a lease expiring on January 31, 2002, the
second occupies approximately 2,500 square feet and expires on March 31, 2002,
and the third includes approximately 9,100 square feet and expires November 30,
2001. We also lease two suites in Burnsville, MN. We also lease offices in
Chicago, Illinois; Bloomfield Hills, Michigan; Norcross, Georgia; Irvine,
California; Oakland, California; Sewickly, Pennsylvania; Chesterfield, Missouri;
Naarden, The Netherlands; Duesseldorf, Germany; Fleet, England; Paris, France;
Hong Kong; Basel, Switzerland; Stockholm, Sweden; Sydney, Australia and Tokyo,
Japan.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of
business. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be determined,
we believe that the final outcome of these proceedings will not seriously harm
our business.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF THE SECURITY HOLDERS

None
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Marker under the symbol
"FIRE". Public trading of the common stock commenced on February 4, 2000. Prior
to that, there was no public market for the common stock. The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales price per
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share of the common stock as reported on NASDAQ National Market, during each
quarter the stock has been publicly traded.

Fiscal Year ended October 31, 2000:

HIGH LOW
Second Quarter ended April 30, 2000 (beginning February 4,
2000) ¢ttt et e e e e e e e e e ettt e e $100.25 $15.88
Third Quarter ended July 31, 2000... ...t eeeennnnnn $ 40.69 $15.49
Fourth Quarter ended October 31, 2000..... . eeennnnnn. $ 21.75 $ 8.00

On February 4, 2000, the Company completed its initial public offering of
5,000,000 shares of common stock. Additionally, on February 25, 2000, the
underwriters of the initial public offering exercised their over-allotment
option to purchase an additional 666,666 shares. At the offering price of $22.00
per share, the Company received $113.8 million from these transactions, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.

As of December 31, 2000, there were approximately 145 holders of record of
our common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We
currently intend to retain any earnings, if any, for use in our business and do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

In connection with our acquisition by merger of Signature Software, Inc. on
September 27, 2000, we issued 276,266 shares of our common stock to the two
stockholders of Signature Software. Our securities were issued under Section
4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation D promulgated thereunder as a
transaction not involving a public offering.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data are derived from our consolidated and
combined financial statements.

When you read this selected financial data, it is important that you also
read the historical consolidated financial statements and related notes included
in this report. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
operating results to be expected in the future.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

20



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
Revenue:
Product-related revenue:
License (1) cv ettt ettt eeeeeennnns $ 23,128 S 9,777 $ 1,888 $ 416 $ -
Services and maintenance............ 24,265 8,604 4,972 —— ——
Total product-related
TEVENUE . ¢ v vt v ettt eneenenens 47,393 18,381 6,860 416 ——
Custom development services........... 14,579 15,904 22,142 27,747 34,158
Total revenue.........ceeeeeenn. 61,972 34,285 29,002 28,163 34,158
Cost of revenue:
IS I oY =T 499 238 192 178 -
Product-related services and
maintenance. . ...t i ittt 16,485 5,677 3,061 —— ——
Custom development services......... 5,773 10,636 8,397 31,365 20,036
Total cost of revenue(2)....... 22,757 16,551 11,650 31,543 20,036
Gross profit.... ...t 39,215 17,734 17,352 (3,380) 14,122
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(2) .......cceeeeenn.. 27,904 23,609 13,680 8,080 5,290
Research and development (2)........... 15,264 9,641 8,199 3,634 2,601
General and administrative(2)......... 9,449 7,084 3,516 3,188 3,081
Stock-based compensation.............. 6,680 2,597 672 450 ——
Restructuring charge (reversal)....... (500) 3,027 —— 6,712 ——
Total operating expenses....... 58,797 45,958 26,067 22,064 10,972
Income (loss) from operations........... (19,582) (28,224) (8,715) (25,444) 3,150
Other income (expense), net............. 4,677 (631) (326) (1,591) (1,306
Net income (loss) before extraordinary
I o = 1= O (14,905) (28,855) (9,041) (27,035) 1,844
Loss on extinguishment of debt.......... (1,437) —— —— —— ——
Net income (1lOSS) v v v veeneeeeeeeeennnnnn (16,342) (28,855) (9,041) (27,035) 1,844
Stock dividend to preferred
stockholders. ....uu ittt enennn. (65,542) —— —— —— ——
Income (loss) applicable to common
stockholders. ...t neeeeeeennnn $(81,884) $(28,855) $(9,041) $(27,035) $ 1,844
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted net loss per share
before extraordinary item........... S (0.52) S (2.88) S (0.91) S (2.62) S 0.18
Extraordinary item.................... (0.05) —= —— —— ——
Stock dividend paid to preferred
stockholders......couiiiiiinnnnn. (2.32) —— —— —— ——
Basic and diluted net loss per share
applicable to common stockholders... $ (2.89) S (2.88) S (0.91) S (2.62) S 0.18

Basic weighted average common shares
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outstanding........iiiiiiiiiiiiin, 28,286 10,024 9,925 10,319
Diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding........cviiiiiiiiiiian, 28,286 10,024 9,925 10,319

(1) Includes related-party revenues of $350 in fiscal 1997.

(2) Excludes charge for stock-based compensation. See note (1) to consolidated
statements of operations on page F-4.

$

10,401

10,432

450
(3,417)
23,342

7,685
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OCTOBER 31,
2000 1999 1998 1997
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments............... $116,233 $ 2,120 $ 2,324 $10,147
Working capital (deficit).............. 101,907 (11, 380) (6,240) (7,119)
Total assets. ...ttt 144,320 21,660 18,786 27,906
Long-term debt, net of current
POTrtion. t ittt e e e e —— 702 1,727 3,991
Total stockholders' equity
(deficit) ... 110,464 (5,354) 1,031 (986)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are a leading provider of integrated e-business sales and marketing
solutions for companies wishing to offer complex products and services through
business-to-business and business-to-consumer e-commerce channels. From our
inception in 1983 through 1997, we generated revenues primarily through
providing custom development services. These services consisted of the
development of highly customized applications, utilizing core software
technology, and related software maintenance and data maintenance services. In
early fiscal 1997, we undertook a plan to change our strategic focus from a
custom development services company to a software product company providing more
standardized solutions. As a result, we exited several of our unrelated business
activities, changed our management team and reduced our workforce to be in line
with our newly defined business strategy. Our first packaged software product
was introduced in May 1997 and we released our current product, the FirePond
Application Suite, in October 1999, and renamed and repackaged it as the
SalesPerformer Suite in December 2000. As a result of these efforts,
product-related revenues as a percentage of total revenues increased from 1.5%
in fiscal 1997 to 23.6% in fiscal 1998, to 53.6% in fiscal 1999 and to 76.5% in
fiscal 2000.

We anticipate that product-related revenues from product licenses will
continue to grow as result of increased market acceptance of our products, the
recent introduction of the SalesPerformer Suite, and increases in both the size
and productivity of our sales force. Therefore, we expect that a higher
percentage of total revenues will be attributable to product-related revenues in
the future. Unlike our custom development services, our product-related services

4,200
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represent the implementation of our packaged software products.

We also anticipate a decline in custom development services revenues, as we
have strategically de-emphasized that business and do not plan to accept new
custom development contracts. We expect that by fiscal 2002, custom development
services revenues will no longer continue to represent a material portion of
total revenues as certain existing custom development contracts and related
maintenance agreements are ending. During fiscal 2001, we also will be
converting certain custom development services customers to our software
products. Custom development services revenues in the future will be primarily
from ongoing software maintenance and data maintenance services that we provide
under custom development services contracts.

We derive revenues principally from software product licenses;
product-related consulting and training, support and maintenance services; and
custom development services and related support and maintenance.

We recognize revenues under Statement of Position, or SOP, No. 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP Nos. 98-4 and 98-9, and SOP No.
81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts. We generally recognize revenues from product-related
license agreements over the implementation period. We recognize these revenues
following the percentage-of-completion method over the implementation period
because we have concluded that the implementation services are essential to our
customers' use of our packaged software products. Percentage of completion is
measured by the percentage of implementation hours incurred to date to total
estimated implementation hours.
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We recognize revenues from product-related support and maintenance services
ratably over the term of the contract, typically one year. Product-related
support and maintenance services include technical support and unspecified
upgrade and maintenance rights. We recognize consulting and training revenues as
the services are performed. Consulting and training revenues are primarily
related to implementation services performed on a time-and-materials basis under
separate service arrangements.

Revenues from custom software development projects can be either
fixed-price or on a time-and-materials basis. We recognize revenues as the
services are performed when the project is based on time-and-materials. We
recognize revenues on a percentage-of-completion method when the project is a
fixed-price contract. Percentage-of-completion is determined based on the number
of hours incurred to date on a project compared to the total estimated hours.
During fiscal 1997, we increased our estimates of total contract costs on
several of our fixed-priced contracts and recorded a $5.2 million provision for
loss contracts, all of which was accrued as of October 31, 1997. In fiscal 1998,
the loss contract reserve changed because we charged $1.9 million of costs
against the accrual when we fulfilled our obligations to the customers; we
reduced the accrual by $2.9 million when we revised our estimated losses; and we
increased the accrual by $480,000 for estimated losses on other contracts. We
charged an additional $500,000 of costs against the accrual in fiscal 1999 for
loss contracts when we fulfilled our obligations to the customer. In fiscal 2000
we recorded an additional $100,000 provision for loss contracts.

Since May 1998, we have been investing heavily in the infrastructure
necessary to expand our global operations, including the formation and staffing
of international subsidiaries. In fiscal 2001 we intend to expand our global
sales capabilities by increasing the number of direct sales personnel. We also
intend to launch an integrated worldwide marketing campaign to raise visibility
for our solutions in the market place.
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We have invested heavily in research and development. Research and
development expenses have been increasing since early fiscal 1997 when we began
the development of our software products. Through May 1997, we capitalized
$532,000 of costs related to the development of our first software product. We
have amortized these costs to cost of license revenue through the end of fiscal
1999. Since the introduction of our first software product, we have determined
that technological feasibility of our software products occurs late in the
development cycle and close to general release of the products, and that the
development costs incurred between the time technological feasibility is
established and general release of the product are not material. Therefore,
beginning in June 1997, we expensed these costs as incurred to research and
development expense. To enhance our product offering and market position, we
believe it 1is essential for us to continue to make significant investment in
research and development. As a result, we anticipate our research and
development expenses will increase in the future.

We have granted stock options to employees and consultants that require us
to record stock-based compensation expense. We have also granted stock warrants
to customers and to strategic business partners. Stock-based compensation
related to grants to employees represents the amortization, over the vesting
period of the option, of the difference between the exercise price of options
granted to employees and the fair market value of our common stock for financial
reporting purposes. Stock-based compensation related to grants to non-employees
represents the fair market value of the options and warrants granted as computed
using an established option valuation formula. We recorded stock-based
compensation expense of approximately $672,000 in fiscal 1998, $2.6 million in
fiscal 1999 and $6.7 million in fiscal 2000. As of October 31, 2000, the
deferred compensation balance was approximately $6.1 million and will be
amortized over the remaining vesting period of the options and warrants.

We have incurred quarterly and annual losses intermittently since we were
formed, and regularly since we began transitioning to a software product
business in early fiscal 1997. In addition, we moved our headquarters from
Mankato, Minnesota to Waltham, Massachusetts in the third quarter of fiscal
1999, and incurred increased costs associated with that relocation. We incurred
net losses of $9.0 million for fiscal 1998, $28.9 million for fiscal 1999 and
$16.3 million for fiscal 2000. We expect to continue to incur losses on both a
quarterly and annual basis in the future.

Our series A, series C and series G preferred stock, as well as shares of
our common stock outstanding on May 20, 1997 other than those shares held by
General Atlantic Partners, had rights that allow holders to
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receive a priority payment upon the completion of our initial public offering.
These priority payments totaled $35.8 million for the series A, series C and
series G preferred stockholders, and $10.0 million for the shares of our common
stock outstanding on May 20, 1997 other than those shares held by General
Atlantic Partners. These amounts were payable in cash, or, at our option, a
number of shares of common stock determined by dividing the amount payable by
$12.00. Our board of directors elected to make these payments in 3,812,587
shares of common stock upon consummation of our initial public offering. At the
initial public offering price of $22.00 per share, the value of the stock
dividend totaled $65.5 million for the series A, series C and series G preferred
stockholders, and $18.3 million for the stock dividend on the shares of our
common stock outstanding on May 20, 1997 other than those shares held by General
Atlantic Partners. The stock dividend on the preferred stock increased the loss
attributable to common stockholders by $65.5 million for fiscal 2000.

As of October 31, 2000, we had available a net operating loss carryforward
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of approximately $46 million to reduce future federal and state income taxes, if
any. This carryforward expires beginning in 2012 and may be subject to review
and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service. The Tax Reform Act of
1986 contains provisions that may limit the amount of net operating loss
carryforwards that we may utilize in any one year in the event of cumulative
changes in ownership over a three-year period in excess of 50%. The Company's
wholly owned foreign subsidiaries have net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $16 million.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents selected consolidated financial data as a
percentage of total net revenues:

YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999 2000
Revenues:
Product-related revenues:
I I o = R 6.5% 28.5% 37
Services and maintenancCe. ... ..ottt it ittt nnaaeenn 17.1 25.1 39
Total product-related revenuUeS.......oueveeeeeennn. 23.6 53.6 76.
Custom development ServViCEeS. ... i ittt tteeeeeeeennnenens 76.4 46.4 23.
TOLAl FOVENUES . & i vttt ettt te e ettt aeeeeeeeeeannns 100.0 100.0 100.
Cost of revenues:
T I D o = 0.6 0.7 0.
Product-related services and maintenance................. 10.6 16.6 26.
Custom development ServViCES. ... ii ittt eeeeeeennnenens 29.0 31.0 9.
Total cost Of FeVeNUES. ..o i ittt ittt meeeeeeeannns 40.2 48.3 36.
GroSs Profit . ittt it ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 59.8 51.7 63.
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing. ...ttt ittt ettt e e e e 47.2 68.9 45.
Research and development.......coiii it iinenneeeennnenens 28.3 28.1 24
General and administrative...... ..ottt 12.1 20.7 15.
Stock-based compensation.........uiiiiiiit it 2.3 7.6 10.
Restructuring charge (reversal) .......eeiiiieeeeeennenens —= 8.8 (0.
Total operating eXPEeNSEeS .« v v v vt ittt e eeeeeeeannns 89.9 134.1 94.
Loss from operations. ...ttt ittt ittt et e e e (30.1) (82.4) (31.
Interest 1NCOME (EXPENSE) « vt i ittt ittt ettt eeaeeeeeeeens (1.0) (1.6) 6.
Other income (expense), Net......ii ittt ittt neeeeeenneeeens (0.1) (0.2) 1.
Net loss before extraordinary item.............ccoiiiiio.... (31.2) (84.2) (24.
Loss on extinguishment of debt.......... . ... —= —= (2.
S S I = T (31.2) (84.2) (26.
Stock dividend to preferred stockholders................... —— —— (105.
Loss applicable to common stockholders..................... (31.2)% (84.2)% (132.
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COMPARISON OF FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000 AND 1999

REVENUES. Total revenues increased $27.7 million, or 80.8%, to $62.0
million in fiscal 2000 from $34.3 million in fiscal 1999. This increase 1is
attributable to a 157.8% increase in product-related revenues, partially offset
by a planned decrease in custom development services revenues, associated with
our change in focus from providing custom development services to providing more
standardized software products.

License. License revenues increased $13.4 million, or 136.6%, to
$23.1 million in fiscal 2000 from $9.8 million in fiscal 1999. License
revenues as a percentage of total revenues increased to 37.3% in fiscal
2000 from 28.5% in fiscal 1999. The increase in license revenues in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of total revenues 1is primarily
attributable to an increase in the number of licenses implemented at higher
average selling prices. We anticipate that license revenues will continue
to grow as a result of more license sales and increased average transaction
size.
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Product service and maintenance. Product service and maintenance
revenues increased $15.7 million, or 182.0%, to $24.3 million in fiscal
2000 from $8.6 million in fiscal 1999. Product services revenues as a
percentage of total revenues increased to 39.2% in fiscal 2000 from 25.1%
in fiscal 1999. The increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of
total revenues is attributable to the increase in the number of consulting
engagements and maintenance agreements related to the increased license
sales in fiscal 2000.

Custom development services. Custom development services revenues
decreased $1.3 million, or 8.3%, to $14.6 million in fiscal 2000 from $15.9
million in fiscal 1999. Custom development services revenues as a
percentage of total revenues decreased to 23.5% in fiscal 2000 from 46.4%
in fiscal 1999. The decrease in absolute dollars and as a percentage of
total revenues is due to the change of our strategic focus. We expect
custom development services revenues to continue to decline in absolute
dollars and as a percentage of total revenues.

COST OF REVENUES. Total cost of revenues increased $6.2 million, or 37.5%,
to $22.8 million in fiscal 2000 from $16.6 million in fiscal 1999. Total cost of
revenues as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 36.7% in fiscal 2000
from 48.3% in fiscal 1999.

Cost of license revenues. Cost of license revenues consists primarily
of costs of royalties, media, product packaging, documentation and other
production cost as well as amortization of capitalized software development
costs in fiscal 1999. Cost of license revenues increased $261,000, or
109.7%, to $499,000 in fiscal 2000 from $238,000 in fiscal 1999. Cost of
license revenues as a percentage of license revenues remained consistent at
2.2% in fiscal 2000 and 2.4% in fiscal 1999. The increase in absolute
dollars is due primarily to an increase in royalty charges associated with
the increase in license revenue.

Cost of product-related services and maintenance revenues. Cost of
product-related services and maintenance revenues consists primarily of
salaries and related costs for consulting, training and customer support
personnel, including cost of services provided by third-party consultants
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engaged by us. Cost of product-related services and maintenance revenues
increased $10.8 million, or 190.4%, to $16.5 million in fiscal 2000 from
$5.7 million in fiscal 1999. Cost of product-related services and
maintenance revenues as a percentage of product-related services and
maintenance revenues increased to 67.9% in fiscal 2000 from 66.0% in fiscal
1999. The increase was primarily due to increased staff to support a higher
number of product-related engagements.

Cost of custom development services revenues. Cost of custom
development services revenues consists primarily of salaries and related
costs for development, consulting, training and customer support personnel
as it relates to our custom development projects, including cost of
services provided by third-party consultants engaged by us. Cost of custom
development services revenues decreased $4.9 million, or 45.7%, to $5.8
million in fiscal 2000 from $10.6 million in fiscal 1999. Cost of custom
development services as a percentage of custom development services
revenues decreased to 39.6% in fiscal 2000 from 66.9% in fiscal 1999. The
decrease in absolute dollars 1is primarily due to decreased staff supporting
fewer custom development services engagements.

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES. Sales and marketing expenses consist
primarily of salaries, commissions and bonuses for sales and marketing personnel
and promotional expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased $4.3 million,
or 18.2%, to $27.9 million in fiscal 2000 from $23.6 million in fiscal 1999.
Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenues decreased to
45.0% in fiscal 2000 from 68.9% in fiscal 1999. Sales and marketing expenses
increased in absolute dollars primarily due to increased headcount in our sales
operations, as well as increase in commissions on product-related sales. Sales
and marketing expenses decreased as a percentage of total revenue primarily due
to our revenue increasing at a greater rate than our sales and marketing
expenses. We believe sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase as
we expand our sales and marketing organization and initiate additional marketing
programs.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES. Research and development expenses
consist primarily of salaries and personnel-related costs and the costs of
contractors associated with the development of new products, the enhancement of
existing products, and the performance of quality assurance and documentation
activities.
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Research and development expenses increased $5.6 million, or 58.3% to $15.3
million in fiscal 2000 from $9.6 million in fiscal 1999. Research and
development expenses as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 24.6% in
fiscal 2000 from 28.1% in fiscal 1999. These expenses increased in absolute
dollars as a result of increased headcount in our product development operation
and increased utilization of engineering and product development contractors
associated with our investment in the SalesPerformer Suite. Research and
development expenses decreased as a percentage of total revenue primarily due to
our revenue increasing at a greater rate than our research and development
expenses. We expect research and development expenses will continue to increase
as we maintain and enhance our existing products and conduct research for new
products.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. General and administrative expenses
consist primarily of salaries, and other personnel-related cost for executive,
financial, human resource, information services, and other administrative
functions, as well as legal and accounting costs. General and administrative
expenses increased $2.4 million, or 33.4%, to $9.4 million in fiscal 2000 from
$7.1 million in fiscal 1999. General and administrative expenses as a percentage
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of total revenues decreased to 15.2% in fiscal 2000 from 20.7% in fiscal 1999.
These expenses increased in absolute dollars primarily as a result of increased
headcount in our general and administrative functions, increased costs of our
infrastructure necessary to support our growth and costs associated with
becoming a public company in fiscal 2000. The decrease in general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue is attributable to our
revenue increasing at a greater rate than our general and administrative
expenses. We expect that general and administrative expenses will continue to
increase as we continue to add personnel to support our expanding operations and
incur additional costs related to the growth of our business.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE. Stock-based compensation expense
increased $4.1 million, or 157.2%, to $6.7 million in fiscal 2000 from $2.6
million in fiscal 1999. Stock-based compensation expense as a percentage of
total revenues increased to 10.8% in fiscal 2000 from 7.6% in fiscal 1999. If we
had allocated our stock-based compensation to the departments for which the
services were performed, the allocation would have increased cost of revenues by
$40,000 in fiscal 1999 and $568,000 in fiscal 2000, sales and marketing expenses
by $1,327,000 in fiscal 1999 and $4,193,000 in fiscal 2000, research and
development expenses by $913,000 in fiscal 1999 and $1,261,000 in fiscal 2000,
and general and administrative expenses by $317,000 in fiscal 1999 and $658,000
in fiscal 2000. The increase in stock based compensation over the prior year is
the result of a higher number of grants in fiscal 2000 to consultants and in
connection with strategic business alliances, as well as the occurrence of a
$1,800,000 charge in fiscal 2000 resulting from the modifications of terms of
three employee stock option agreements.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGE. During fiscal 1999, we undertook a plan to relocate
our corporate offices from Minnesota to Massachusetts. In connection with this
plan, we incurred $3.0 million of restructuring charges, which included $1.5
million for asset impairments, $1.0 million for idle lease space and $500,000
for employee severance costs. During fiscal 2000, we negotiated a new lease for
less space, eliminating the future obligation for the idle space in our Mankato
facility. As a result, we reversed $500,000 of the restructuring accrual
representing the remaining obligation for the idle lease space.

INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE), NET. 1Interest income (expense), net improved to
$4.0 million of income in fiscal 2000 from $565,000 of expense in fiscal 1999.
The improvement is primarily due to interest earned on increased cash and cash
equivalents and short and long-term investments as a result of the proceeds from
our initial public offering partially offset by interest expense primarily
related to the issuance of subordinated notes payable.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET. Other income (expense), net primarily
consists of bank fees, certain state and local taxes and foreign currency
transaction gains/losses. Fiscal 2000 also includes $323,000 in net proceeds
from the settlement of a lawsuit. Other income (expense), net improved to
$640,000 of income in fiscal 2000 from $66,000 of expense in fiscal 1999. This
improvement is primarily attributed to foreign currency transaction net gains
and the lawsuit settlement in fiscal 2000.

LOSS ON EXTINGUISHMENTS OF DEBT. In conjunction with our initial public
offering in February 2000, we repaid a $6,000,000 subordinated note. In
conjunction with issuance of the note in November 1999, we had issued to the
note holders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 360,000 shares of common stock
at an exercise
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price of $5.25 per share with an estimated fair value totaling $2,789,000. We
had allocated the proceeds from the subordinated notes payable of $6,000,000 in
proportion to the relative fair values of both the warrants and the subordinated
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notes payable. As a result, we had recorded the warrants as a discount totaling
$1,904,000 against the carrying value of the subordinated notes payable, with
the discount amortized to interest expense over the term of the subordinated
notes payable. As a result of repaying the note in fiscal 2000, we recorded a
$1,437,000 loss on extinguishment of debt as an extraordinary item for the
amount of unamortized discount at the time of repayment.

COMPARISON OF FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 1999 AND 1998

REVENUES. Total revenues increased $5.3 million, or 18.2%, to $34.3
million in fiscal 1999 from $29.0 million in fiscal 1998. This increase is
attributable to a 167.9% increase in product-related revenues, offset by a
planned decrease in custom development services revenues, associated with our
change in focus from providing custom development services to providing more
standardized software products.

License. License revenues increased $7.9 million, or 417.8%, to $9.8
million in fiscal 1999 from $1.9 million in fiscal 1998. License revenues
as a percentage of total revenues increased to 28.5% in fiscal 1999 from
6.5% in fiscal 1998. The increase in license revenues in absolute dollars
and as a percentage of total revenues is primarily attributable to an
increase in the number of licenses implemented at higher average selling
prices.

Product service and maintenance. Product service and maintenance
revenues increased $3.6 million, or 73.0%, to $8.6 million in fiscal 1999
from $5.0 million in fiscal 1998. Product services revenues as a percentage
of total revenues increased to 25.1% in fiscal 1999 from 17.1% in fiscal
1998. The increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total
revenues 1is attributable to the increase in the number of consulting
engagements and maintenance agreements related to the increased license
sales in fiscal 1999.

Custom development services. Custom development services revenues
decreased $6.2 million, or 28.2%, to $15.9 million in fiscal 1999 from
$22.1 million in fiscal 1998. Custom development services revenues as a
percentage of total revenues decreased to 46.4% in fiscal 1999 from 76.4%
in fiscal 1998. The decrease in absolute dollars and as a percentage of
total revenues is due to the change of our strategic focus.

COST OF REVENUES. Total cost of revenues increased $4.9 million, or 42.1%,
to $16.6 million in fiscal 1999 from $11.7 million in fiscal 1998. Total cost of
revenues as a percentage of total revenues increased to 48.3% in fiscal 1999
from 40.2% in fiscal 1998.

Cost of license revenues. Cost of license revenues increased 24.0% to
$238,000 in fiscal 1999 from $192,000 in fiscal 1998. Cost of license
revenues as a percentage of license revenues decreased to 2.4% in fiscal
1999 from 10.2% in fiscal 1998 due to a 417.8% increase in license revenues
while cost of license revenues increased by only 24.0%.

Cost of product-related services and maintenance revenues. Cost of
product-related services and maintenance revenues increased $2.6 million,
or 85.5%, to $5.7 million in fiscal 1999 from $3.1 million in fiscal 1998.
Cost of product-related services and maintenance revenues as a percentage
of product-related services and maintenance revenues increased to 66.0% in
fiscal 1999 from 61.6% in fiscal 1998. The increase was primarily due to
increased staff to support a higher number of product-related engagements.

Cost of custom development services revenues. Cost of custom
development services revenues increased $2.2 million, or 26.7%, to $10.6
million in fiscal 1999 from $8.4 million in fiscal 1998. Cost of custom
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development services as a percentage of custom development services
revenues increased to 66.9% in fiscal 1999 from 37.9% in fiscal 1998. The
increase resulted primarily from the following factors:

- we reduced the estimated losses on contracts in fiscal 1998 by a net
amount of approximately $2.4 million; and

- we charged costs incurred of $1.9 million on loss contracts in fiscal
1998 to the accrual for loss contracts.
23
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SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES. Sales and marketing expenses increased $9.9
million, or 72.6%, to $23.6 million in fiscal 1999 from $13.7 million in fiscal
1998. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenues increased
to 68.9% in fiscal 1999 from 47.2% in fiscal 1998. Sales and marketing expenses
increased in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total revenues primarily
due to increased headcount in our sales operations, particularly our
international direct sales channel and the infrastructure of our global
operations, as well as a $1.0 million increase in marketing programs to promote
the FirePond Application Suite released in October 1999.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES. Research and development expenses
increased $1.4 million, or 17.6% to $9.6 million in fiscal 1999 from $8.2
million in fiscal 1998. Research and development expenses as a percentage of
total revenues decreased to 28.1% in fiscal 1999 from 28.3% in fiscal 1998.
These expenses increased in absolute dollars as a result of increased
engineering and product development activities associated with our investment in
the FirePond Application Suite.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. General and administrative expenses
increased $3.6 million, or 101.5%, to $7.1 million in fiscal 1999 from $3.5
million in fiscal 1998. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
total revenues increased to 20.7% in fiscal 1999 from 12.1% in fiscal 1998.
These expenses increased in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total
revenues primarily as a result of increased costs of our infrastructure
necessary to support our growth.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE. Stock-based compensation expense
increased $1.9 million, or 286.5%, to $2.6 million in fiscal 1999 from $672,000
in fiscal 1998. Stock-based compensation expense as a percentage of total
revenues increased to 7.6% in fiscal 1999 from 2.3% in fiscal 1998. If we had
allocated our stock-based compensation to the departments for which the services
were performed, general and administrative expenses would have increased by
$672,000 in fiscal 1998. In fiscal 1999, the allocation would have increased
cost of revenues by $40,000, sales and marketing expenses by $1,327,000,
research and development expenses by $913,000 and general and administrative
expenses by $317,000. The increase in stock-based compensation expense related
to sales and marketing activities in fiscal 1999 resulted from $622,000 in
awards to employees at exercise prices below fair market value, $474,000 in
awards to terminated employees, and $231,000 in awards to consultants and in
connection with strategic business alliances. The increase in stock-based
compensation expense related to research and development activities in fiscal
1999 resulted from $237,000 in awards to consultants and $676,000 in awards to
employees at exercise prices below fair market value.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGE. During fiscal 1999, we undertook a plan to relocate
our corporate offices from Minnesota to Massachusetts. In connection with this
plan, we incurred $3.0 million of restructuring charges, which included $1.5
million for asset impairments, $1.0 million for idle lease space and $500,000
for employee severance costs.
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INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE), NET. Interest income (expense), net increased
$277,000, or 95.8%, to $565,000 of expense in fiscal 1999 from $288,000 of
expense in fiscal 1998 and represented less than 2.0% of total revenue in each
period.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET. Other income (expense), net increased
$28,000, or 76.3%, to $66,000 of expense in fiscal 1999 from $38,000 of expense
in fiscal 1998 and represented less than 1.0% of total revenues in each period.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our unaudited consolidated statement of
operations data for the eight quarters in the period ended October 31, 2000, as
well as the percentage of our total revenues represented by each item. We have
prepared this unaudited consolidated information on a basis consistent with our
audited consolidated financial statements, and in the opinion of our management,
this information reflects all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair
presentation of our operating results for the quarters presented.

QUARTER ENDED

JANUARY 31, APRIL 30, JULYy 31, OCTOBER 31,
1999 1999 1999 1999

Revenues:
Product-related revenues:
License. ... eenneenn. S 1,607 $ 2,410 $ 2,615 $ 3,145
Services and
maintenance........... 1,296 1,950 2,359 2,999
Total
product-related
revenuUesS.......... 2,903 4,360 4,974 6,144
Custom development
services..........o... 4,283 4,066 3,712 3,843
Total revenues...... 7,186 8,426 8,686 9,987

Cost of revenues:

LiCeNSEeS . vttt e eeeeeeennn 46 47 45 100
Product-related services

and maintenance......... 998 1,405 1,487 1,787
Custom development

services.......iiiii.. 3,001 2,733 2,888 2,014

Total cost of

revenuUesS.......... 4,045 4,185 4,420 3,901
Gross profit......... ... ..., 3,141 4,241 4,266 6,086
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing....... 4,758 6,541 5,736 6,574
Research and

development............. 1,997 1,828 2,547 3,269
General and

administrative.......... 1,531 1,717 1,814 2,022

JANUARY 31,
2000
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Stock-based

compensation............
Restructuring charge......

Total operating

EXPENSES . v v v v v v v v

Income (loss) from

operations................
Interest income (expense)...

Other income (expense),

Net loss before

extraordinary item........

Loss on extinguishment of

Net 10SS.iieeeeeeeeenennnnnn

Stock dividend paid to

preferred stockholders....

Loss applicable to common

stockholders..............

28

Revenues:

Product-related revenues:
LiCense. . v e e eeeennn

Services and

maintenance...........

Total
product-related

revenuesS..........

Custom development

services..............

Total revenues......

Cost of revenues:

LiCeNnSEeS . vttt ieeeeeennn
Product-related services
and maintenance.........

Custom development

services.......c.iiii..

Total cost of

25

JANUARY 31,

1999

N
N
IS
oo

423 143
- 2,625
10,509 12,865
(6,268) (8,599)
(104) (102)
26 10
(6,346) (8,691)
(6,346) (8,691)
$(6,346) $(8,691)
APRIL 30, JuLy 31,
1999 1999
28.6% 30.1%
23.1 27.2
51.7 57.3
48.3 42.7
100.0 100.0
0.6 0.5
16.8 17.1
32.4 33.2

QUARTER

OCTOBER 31,

1999

ENDED

JANUARY 31,
2000
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revenuUesS.......... 56.3 49.6 50.8 39.1 33.5
Gross profit................ 43.7 50.4 49.2 60.9 66.5
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing....... 66.2 77.6 66.0 65.8 53.6
Research and
development............. 27.8 21.7 29.3 32.7 30.9
General and
administrative.......... 21.3 20.4 20.9 20.2 16.4
Stock-based
compensation............ 3.2 5.0 1.6 18.0 9.7
Restructuring charge...... - - 30.2 4.0 -

Total operating
EXPENSES . v v v 118.5 124.7 148.0 140.7 110.6

Income (loss) from

operations................ (74.8) (74.3) (98.8) (79.8) (44.1)
Interest income (expense)... (2.6) (1.2) (1.2) (1.8) (6.7)
Other income (expense),

oY (0.7) 0.3 0.1 (0.5) 2.2

Net loss before

extraordinary item........ (78.1) (75.2) (99.9) (82.1) (48.06)
Loss on extinguishment of

debt ...t - - - - -
Net income (loss)........... (78.1)% (75.2)% (99.9)% (82.1)% (48.60)%

Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter in
the past and may continue to fluctuate in the future. The quarterly fluctuations
are caused by a number of factors, including demand for our products and
services, size and timing of specific sales, level of product and price
competition, timing and market acceptance of new product introductions and
product enhancements by us and our competitors, the length of our sales cycle,
personnel changes, budgeting cycles of our customers, the impact of our revenue
recognition policies, changes in technology and changes caused by the rapidly
evolving e-business market. Many of these factors are beyond our control.
Therefore, we believe that results of operations for interim periods should not
be relied upon as any indication of the results to be expected in any future
period.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

On February 4, 2000, we completed our initial public offering of 5,000,000
shares of common stock. Additionally, on February 25, 2000, the underwriters of
the initial public offering exercised their over-allotment option to purchase an
additional 666,666 shares. At the offering price of $22.00 per share, we
received $113.8 million from these transactions, net of underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses.

As of October 31, 2000, cash and cash equivalents were $79.5 million and
short-term investments were $36.7 million as compared with $2.1 million of cash
and cash equivalents and no short-term investments as of October 31, 1999. Our
working capital at October 31, 2000 was $101.9 million, compared to a working
capital deficit of $11.4 million at October 31, 1999.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.2 million in the year
ended October 31, 2000, compared with net cash used in operating activities of
$19.9 million in the year ended October 31, 1999 and $10.5 million in the year
ended October 31, 1998. Cash provided by operating activities in the year ended
October 31, 2000 was primarily attributable to a increase in accounts payable,
an increase in accrued liabilities and deferred revenue, and non-cash expenses
including depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense and
the loss on early extinguishment of debt, offset in part by our net loss and an
increase in accounts receivable.

Net cash used in investing activities was $40.7 million in the year ended
October 31, 2000, compared with $2.1 million in the year ended October 31, 1999
and $1.5 million in the year ended October 31, 1998. Net cash used in investing
activities in the year ended October 31, 2000 was primarily attributable to
utilizing the proceeds from our initial public offering to purchase short and
long-term investments and to a lesser extent the purchase of property and
equipment to support our expanding operations.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $114.9 million in the year
ended October 31, 2000, compared with $21.9 million in the year ended October
31, 1999 and $4.1 million in the year ended October 31, 1998. Proceeds from
financing activities for the year ended October 31, 2000 were primarily from the
sale of common stock during our initial public offering and the exercise of
stock options and warrants, partially offset by payment on the line of credit
and long-term debt. Net cash provided by financing activity for the year ended
October 31, 1999 was primarily from our sale of 6,734,008 shares of series F
preferred stock at $2.97 per share totaling $20.0 million in February 1999.

Effective September 29, 1999, we amended our line of credit agreement with
a financial institution to increase the total commitment to $7.0 million
consisting of a $2.0 million term note and a line of credit based on 80% of
qualifying accounts receivables, as defined, up to $5.0 million. The amended
line of credit and term loan was to mature on October 31, 2000 and accrued
interest at prime rate plus 2.0%, limited to a minimum of 8.0% per year, payable
monthly. We also paid a fee of 0.5% per year on the unused line of credit. In
February 2000, we repaid and terminated the line of credit and term note with
the proceeds from our initial public offering.

On November 12, 1999, we borrowed $6.0 million of subordinated indebtedness
from an outside investor and two of our existing stockholders. The indebtedness
bore interest at 12.0% and was due upon the closing of our initial public
offering. We also issued to these lenders warrants to purchase an aggregate of
360,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $5.25 per share. We
recorded the warrants as a discount totaling $1.9 million against the carrying
value of the subordinated notes payable. In February 2000, we repaid the
subordinated notes with the proceeds from our initial public offering.

We anticipate a substantial increase in our capital expenditures consistent
with anticipated growth in operations, infrastructure and personnel. We believe
that our existing cash balances will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
need for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12
months. However, we may need to raise additional funds in the next 12 months or
in the future to support more rapid expansion of our sales force, develop new or
enhanced products or services, respond to competitive pressures, acquire
complementary businesses or technologies or respond to unanticipated
requirements. If we seek to raise additional funds, we may not be able to obtain
funds on terms which are favorable or acceptable to us. If we raise additional
funds through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our
existing stockholders would be reduced. Furthermore, these securities may have
rights, preferences or privileges senior to our common stock.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
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In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. This
statement establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments, including derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and
for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 137, is effective
for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. SFAS No.
133 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements upon adoption in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.
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In March 2000, the FASB issued Interpretation Number 44, Accounting for
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation —-- An Interpretation of APB
No. 25. The Interpretation clarifies the application of APB No. 25 in certain
situations, as defined. The Interpretation was effective on July 1, 2000 but
covers certain events having occurred after December 15, 1998. To the extent
that events covered by the Interpretation occur during the period after December
15, 1998, but before the issuance of the Interpretation, the effects of applying
this Interpretation would be recognized on a prospective basis from the
effective date. Accordingly, upon initial application of the Interpretation, (a)
no adjustment would be made to financial statements for the periods before the
effective date and (b) no expense would be recognized for any additional
compensation cost measured that is attributed to periods before the effective
date. The adoption of this Interpretation did not have a material impact on the
accompanying financial statements.

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (SAB 101), Revenue Recognition, was
issued in December 1999. On March 24, 2000, the SEC deferred implementation of
SAB 101 until the second calendar quarter of 2000, and on June 26, 2000,
implementation was further deferred until the fourth quarter of calendar 2000.
The Company 1is required to comply with this guidance no later than the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2001. The Company does not believe the adoption of this
guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7a. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We develop products in the United States and Belarus and sell them
worldwide. As a result, our financial results could be affected by factors such
as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in
foreign markets. Since our sales are currently priced in U.S. dollars and are
translated to local currency amounts, a strengthening of the dollar could make
our products less competitive in foreign markets. Interest income and expense
are sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates,
particularly since our investments are in short-term instruments and our
long-term debt and available line of credit require interest payments calculated
at variable rates. Based on the nature and current levels of our investments and
debt, however, we have concluded that there is no material market risk exposure.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are
listed in Item 14 (a) (1) and begin at page F-1 of this report.

The quarterly financial information required by this Item 8 is included in
Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

35



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion
responsive thereto under the captions "Management" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion
responsive thereto under the caption "Executive Compensation" in our Proxy

Statement for the 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion
responsive thereto under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" in our Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion
responsive thereto under the caption "Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following are the consolidated financial statements of the Company
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

PAGE

Report of Independent Public Accountants.................... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 31, 1999 and

2000 .t ittt e e e e e e e ettt e e F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Fiscal Years

Ended October 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000. ...ttt eenennn. F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

for the Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 1998, 1999 and

2/ F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years

Ended October 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000. ...ttt eenennn. F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.................. F-7
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2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Financial statement schedules have been omitted because the information
required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is included in the

Financial Statement notes thereto.
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3. EXHIBITS
The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits, immediately
following the financial statement schedules are filed as part of, or

incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT
NUMBER EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION
3.3(4) Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
the Registrant.
3.5(4) First Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant.
4.1(5) Specimen certificate for shares of common stock, $.01 par
value, of the Registrant.

10.1(1) Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated
February 23, 1999, between the Registrant and the
Stockholders named therein.

10.2(4) Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan of the
Registrant.

10.3(5) 1999 Stock Option and Grant Plan of the Registrant.

10.4 (4) 1999 Director Plan of the Registrant.

10.5(1) Lease Agreement between Petrie Development Corp. and the
Registrant, dated as of August 11, 1998.

10.6(1) Lease of 890 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts between
FirePond, Inc., as Tenant, and 890 Winter Street, L.L.C., as
Landlord dated as of March 25, 1999.

10.7(2) Consulting Agreement between the Registrant and Soft OS,
Inc. dated January 23, 1999.

+10.8(2) Software License Agreement between the Registrant and
SilverStream Software Inc. dated as of March 18, 1999.

10.10(1) Employment Agreement dated April 2, 1998 between Registrant
and Klaus P. Besier.

10.11(1) Offer Letter dated May 11, 1998 between Registrant and

Graham S. Williams.
10.11.1(4) Employee Agreement Regarding Inventions, Confidentiality and
Non-Competition between Registrant and Graham Williams.
10.11.2(5) 1Incentive Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and
Graham S. Williams dated June 1, 1998.

10.14 (1) Offer Letter dated December 11, 1998 between Registrant and
Paul K. McDermott.

+10.16(2) Signature Plus Software License Agreement between the
Registrant and BCBSM, Inc. dated as of December 18, 1998.

10.17(2) Sublease between Registrant and Dataworks Corporation dated

as of November 2, 1998.

10.17.1(2) Addendum to Sublease Agreement between Registrant and
Dataworks Corporation dated November 2, 1998.

10.18(2) Sublease Agreement between Registrant and International
Poison Center Consortium, Inc. dated as of December 8, 1998.
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21.1(1) Subsidiaries
23.2 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

+ Confidential treatment has been obtained for certain portions of this
exhibit. The confidential redacted information has been filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to our Form S-1 Registration Statement as filed with the
SEC on November 12, 1999.

(2) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on November 24, 1999.
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(3) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on December 21, 1999.

(4) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 3 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on January 12, 2000.

(5) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 4 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on February 1, 2000.

(6) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 5 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on February 2, 2000.

(7) Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 6 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement as filed with the SEC on February 3, 2000.

(b) The Company did not file any reports on Form 8-K during the last
quarter of the period covered by this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of
Waltham, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on January 29, 2001.

FIREPOND, INC.

By: /s/ PAUL K. MCDERMOTT
Paul K. McDermott
Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President of Finance and
Administration

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this

report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on
the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
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/s/ KLAUS P. BESIER Chairman and Chief Executive Officer January 29, 2001
———————————————————————————————————— and Director (Principal Executive
Klaus P. Besier Officer)
/s/ PAUL K. MCDERMOTT Chief Financial Officer and Vice January 29, 2001
———————————————————————————————————— President of Finance and
Paul K. McDermott Administration (Principal

Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ PAUL R. BUTARE Director January 29, 2001

Paul R. Butare

/s/ J. MICHAEL CLINE Director January 29, 2001

J. Michael Cline

/s/ WILLIAM O. GRABE Director January 29, 2001

William O. Grabe

/s/ GERHARD SCHULMEYER Director January 29, 2001

Gerhard Schulmeyer

/s/ VERNON LAWRENCE WEBER Director January 29, 2001

Vernon Lawrence Weber
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
FirePond, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FirePond,
Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of October 31, 1999 and 2000,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity
(deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October
31, 2000. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
FirePond, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 31, 1999 and 2000, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended October 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

Boston, Massachusetts

November 21, 2000 (except with

respect to the matter discussed /s/ Arthur Andersen LLP
in note 15, as to which the date

is January 9, 2001)

F-2
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
OCTOBER 31,
1999 2000
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT
SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalentsS. . vt ettt ittt e eeenneeeenennns S 2,120 $ 79,500
Short—term Investment S . ...ttt ittt ettt e taenens - 36,733
Accounts receivable, net of reserves of $410 and $1,115 in
1999 and 2000, respectively. ...t it eeneneenns 9,910 15,418
Unbilled SerViCe S . v it e ittt ettt teeeeeeeneeeeeeeeeneenens 1,191 1,676
Prepaid expenses and other current assets................. 1,265 2,436

Total current assSet S . .. i i ittt ittt teeeneenneens 14,486 135,763
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Property and equipment, net........ ..ottt 6,048 6,887
Restricted cash. .. ...t ittt e ettt e 550 550
(O 1ol o TS = = i 576 1,120

$ 21,660 $144,320

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Line Of Credit. .. u it iie ittt ettt ettt ettt eee et e eeaeenn $ 6,740 $ -
Current portion of long-term debt.......... ...t 1,313 403
Accounts payvable. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e 3,833 4,851
Accrued liabilitdesS ..ttt ittt ettt ettt e e 5,700 13,395
Deferred FeVENUE . « v ittt i ittt ettt e sttt eeeneeaeeeeeeneeaens 8,280 15,207
Total current liabilities.......uiiiiiiiiniinnnnnnn 25,866 33,856
Long-term debt, less current portion.............oeeeeiee... 702 -
Restructuring accrual, less current portion................. 446 -

Commitments and contingencies (note 8)
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value --

Authorized -- 50,000,000 shares at October 31, 1999 and
5,000,000 at October 31, 2000;
Issued and outstanding -- 19,097,793 shares at October
31, 1999 and none at October 31, 2000........00cueueun.. 191 ——
Common stock, $0.01 par value --
Authorized -- 100,000,000 shares at October 31, 1999 and
2000;
Issued and outstanding -- 10,072,817 shares at October
31,1999 and 35,596,022 shares at October 31, 2000..... 101 356
Additional paid-in capital.......i ittt 62,380 195,166
Accumulated defdcCoit .o it ittt it it e e e et e e e e (61,793) (78,135)
Deferred compensation. . ... ..ottt tneeeeeeeeennnnns (5,893) (6,077)
Subscription receivables. ... ..ottt it e e e (13) —=
Other comprehensive 10SS.. ...ttt ittt tneeeeeeeeennenns (327) (8406)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)............... (5,354) 110,464
$ 21,660 $144,320

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
F-3
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,
1998 1999 2000
Revenues:
Product-related revenues:
T ] o =Y $ 1,888 $ 9,777 $ 23,128
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Services and maintenanCe . ...ttt ittt ittt 4,972 8,604 24,265
Total product-related revenues..........eeueweeenene.. 6,860 18,381 47,393
Custom development ServViCES. ...t i ittt eeeeneeeeennenns 22,142 15,904 14,579
TOtaAl FOVENUE S . v vttt et ettt ettt eeeeeneeeeeeneeaeeens 29,002 34,285 61,972

Cost of revenues:

T D o = 192 238 499
Product-related services and maintenance (1) ......coueeen.. 3,061 5,677 16,485
Custom development ServViCeS. . ...ttt ttneeeeeeeeennenns 8,397 10,636 5,773
Total cost Of revenues. ......i ittt teeneneennn 11,650 16,551 22,757
GroSs Profit .ttt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 17,352 17,734 39,215
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (1) .. it i ittt ittt ettt et eeee e 13,680 23,609 27,904
Research and development (1) .. ..ttt iiiieeeeeeennnnns 8,199 9,641 15,264
General and administrative (L) .... .ttt teeennnennn 3,516 7,084 9,449
Stock-based compensation. .......i ittt 672 2,597 6,680
Restructuring charge (reversal) ... ...t iieieneeeeennenns —— 3,027 (500)
Total operating EXPEeNSES . v v vttt it eeeeeeeenneeeennn 26,067 45,958 58,797
Loss from Ooperations . @ittt ittt ettt et e e e (8,715) (28,224) (19,582)
Interest INCOME . @ v it ittt it ettt ettt ettt et e st eeeeneeaens —— —— 5,071
TNt EresSt EXPEN S . i ittt ettt ettt e ettt ea et (288) (850) (1,033)
Other income (expense), Nel ... ..ttt itteeeeeeeenneeeenns (38) 219 639
Net loss before extraordinary item.......... ... i (9,041) (28,855) (14,905)
Loss on extinguishment of debt........... ... ... - - (1,437)
J LSS I X 1 (9,041) (28,855) (16,342)
Stock dividend paid to preferred stockholders............... - - (65,542)
Loss applicable to common stockholders............c.eeeenennn. $(9,041) $(28,855) $(81,884)

Net loss per share (Note 3(a)):
Basic and diluted net loss per share before extraordinary

0 ol $ (0.91) S (2.88) $ (0.52)
Extraordinary dtem. ... ..ttt ittt ettt —= —= (0.05)
Stock dividend paid to preferred stockholders............. - - (2.32)

Basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common
SEOCKNO L AET S e i ittt e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e S (0.91) S (2.88) S (2.89)

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares
OULStANAINg . ¢ v ittt e e e e e e e e e e et 9,925 10,024 28,286

Pro forma net loss per share (Note 3(b)):
Pro forma net 10SS Per Share. ...ttt teeeennnoneeeennnns S (1.12) $  (0.50)

Pro forma basic and diluted weighted average common shares
OULStANAINg . ¢ v ittt e e e e e e e e e 25,799 32,867

(1) The following summarizes the departmental allocation of the stock-based
compensation charge:
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FISCAL YEARS ENDED
OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999 2000
COSt Of TOVENUE. « v ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt eeeeeeeaaeeeeeeenennns S —— S 40 $ 568
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing. ...t i ittt ittt e et e e —— 1,327 4,193
Research and development . ......oiiiii it iineeeeeeeeennenns - 913 1,261
General and administrative.........o.ii ittt 672 317 658
Total stock-based compensation.......o e et teeeeennnneeens 5672 $2,597 $6,680
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
F-4
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
PREFERRED STOCK COMMON STOCK
$0.01 $0.01 ADD
PAR PAR PA
SHARES VALUE SHARES VALUE CA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE D
BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1997 ...t teeennnnnnnn 4,859,222 $ 49 9,905,787 S 99 $
Exercise of common stock options................. - - 20,067 -
Issuance of common StoCK.......iiiiiiiniineenennn —— —— 86,061 1
Repurchase and retirement of common Stock........ —— —— (7,600) ——
Stock-based compensation expense................. - - - -
Series D preferred stock exchanged for series E
preferred stoCK. ...ttt i e e e e 3,702,281 37 —— ——
Issuance of series E preferred stock............. 3,802,282 38 - -
Payments by stockholders......... ..o, - - - -
A LS A I = - - - -
Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,
S
BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1998.. ...ttt ennnnnnnnnn 12,363,785 124 10,004,315 100
Exercise of common stock options................. - - 35,169 -
Issuance of common StoCK.......iiiiiiiniineennnnn —— —— 33,333 1
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to
A CUSEOMEL . v ittt it ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt e - - - -
Issuance of series F preferred stock............. 6,734,008 67 —— ——

Issuance of warrants to purchase
preferred stock............. ...

series F

Cost of exchanging series E for series G

preferred stock............. ...

Deferred stock-based compensation................ -

Stock-based compensation expense

Cumulative translation adjustment -

Net loss
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Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

1990 . ittt ettt et e e e e e e e e
BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1999..... ..ttt innnnnnnnnn 19,097,793 191 10,072,817 101
Exercise of common stock options and warrants.... —— —— 3,035,823 30

Payments by stockholders......... ... - - - -
Issuance of common stock at initial public

Offering. ..t e e e e -— -— 5,666,666 57 1
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to

A CUSEOMEL . ittt it i it ittt et ettt e et anenneenas - - - -
Issuance of warrants in connection with note

pPavable . oo e e e e e e e e e e e - - - -
Conversion of preferred stock into common

SEOCK . v et e e e e (19,097,793) (191) 12,731,862 127
Priority payments to stockholders................ - - 3,812,588 38

Deferred stock-based compensation................ - - - -
Stock-based compensation expense................. - - - -
Issuance of restricted common shares (Note 9).... —— —— 276,266 3
Cumulative translation adjustment................ - - - -
Unrealized net loss on investment................ - - - -

Net 10SS .ttt ittt ettt ittt et - - - -
Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,
2000 .ttt e e e e e e e e
BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 2000..... .0 iutniiuennnennnnn - s - 35,596,022 $356 S1
CUMULATIVE
DEFERRED TRANSLATION SUBSCRIPTION GA
COMPENSATION ADJUSTMENT RECEIVABLES
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHAR
BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1997 . ... iiiiitiiinnnnnn $ - S - $(12)

Exercise of common stock options................. - - -
Issuance of common StoCK........iiiiiiiiiieenns - - -
Repurchase and retirement of common Stock........ - - -
Stock-based compensation expense................. - - -
Series D preferred stock exchanged for series E

preferred stoCk. ...ttt e e e e —— —— ——
Issuance of series E preferred stock............. - - -
Payments by stockholders......... ... - - 12
L N - - -
Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1998..... ¢ttt tnnnnnnns —= - -
Exercise of common stock options................. —— - (13)
Issuance of common StoOCK...... ittt enennn (130) —— ——
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to

A CUSEOMEL . i it ittt it ittt ettt ettt e ae e anenaeenas - - -
Issuance of series F preferred stock............. - - -
Issuance of warrants to purchase series F

preferred stoCk. ...ttt e e e e - - -
Cost of exchanging series E for series G

preferred stoCk. ...ttt e e e e - - -

Deferred stock-based compensation................ (8,360) - -
Stock-based compensation expense................. 2,597 - -
Cumulative translation adjustment................ - (327) -
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S S - - - -
Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1999..... .. ... (5,893) (327) (13)
Exercise of common stock options and warrants.... - -
Payments by stockholders......... ..., - - (13)
Issuance of common stock at initial public

[ s s 1 L - - -
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to

A CUSEOMEL . it vttt ittt ittt ettt ittt anenneenas - - -
Issuance of warrants in connection with note

Priority payments to stockholders................ - - -
Deferred stock-based compensation................ (2,965) - -
Stock-based compensation expense................. 6,680 - -
Issuance of restricted common shares (Note 9).... (3,899) —= —=
Cumulative translation adjustment................ - (515) -
Unrealized net loss on investment................ - - -
Nt 108 S e ittt ettt ettt et ettt aeeee et eeaaeeeeneens - - -

Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 2000........0.0uuiiiinn.. $(6,077) $(842) S -

COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
(LOSS)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1997 .. ...ttt ennnnnnns

Exercise of common stock options.................

Issuance of common StoCK.......oiiiiiiiiiieens

Repurchase and retirement of common Stock........

Stock-based compensation expense.................

Series D preferred stock exchanged for series E

preferred stoCK. ...ttt i e e e e

Issuance of series E preferred stock.............

Payments by stockholders......... ...

11 L= S ¥ = = S (9,041)

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1998... ...t nnnnnnns
Exercise of common stock options.................
Issuance of common StoCK.......oiiiiiiiiiieens
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to
A CUSEOMEL . i it ittt it ittt ettt ittt et aeenneenas
Issuance of series F preferred stock.............
Issuance of warrants to purchase series F

preferred stoCk. ...ttt e e e e
Cost of exchanging series E for series G

preferred stoCk. ...ttt e e e e
Deferred stock-based compensation................
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Stock-based compensation expense.................
Cumulative translation adjustment................ S (327)
1 S S I = T (28,855)

Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 1999..... ¢t innnnnn.
Exercise of common stock options and warrants....
Payments by stockholders......... ...
Issuance of common stock at initial public
Offering. vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock to
A CUSEOMEL . i it ittt it ittt ettt et ettt aeeneeenns
Issuance of warrants in connection with note

Priority payments to stockholders................ -
Deferred stock-based compensation................ -
Stock-based compensation expense.................

Issuance of restricted common shares (Note 9).... -

Cumulative translation adjustment................ (515)
Unrealized net loss on investment................ (4)
1 S S I = T (16,342)

Comprehensive loss for the year ended October 31,

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31, 2000......uuuetiiiininnnnn.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidates financial

statements.
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Cash flows from operating activities:

LS L N

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Non-cash restructuring charges (reversals)..............
Issuance of warrants to a customer............cceiiiie...
Stock-based compensation expense. .........eiiieeereenn.
Loss on disposal of property and equipment..............
Depreciation and amortization...........c.coiiiiinnnn..
Non-cash interest expense. ........iiiiiiiineeeeennnneenns
Loss on early extinguishment of debt....................

$

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

(9,041)

(IN THOUSANDS)

$(28,855)

1,532
106
2,597
49

$(16,342)

(500)
409
6,680
44
3,062
467
1,437
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Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:
Accounts receivable. ... ittt i i i i e e
Unbilled ServViCEeS. ..ttt ittt ettt
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.............
Accounts payvable. ...ttt e et e e e e e e e
Accrued liabilities. ...ttt
Deferred FeVeNUE. . vttt ittt ittt ittt ettt teennnnnnneees
Restructuring AcCCrual. .. ...ttt ine et eeeneeeeeeeanns
Billings in excess 0f COsSts. ..ttt nnn.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities. ... e e

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments............... ... ...
Purchases of long-term investments...........ououiuiieieeenennn
Proceeds from the sale and maturities of short-term
INVEeStEmMENE S . ¢t ittt e e e e e e e e e e et
Purchases of property and equipment.............oveuunn...
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment..............
Increase in restricted cash........c i eennn.
Payment for acquisition, net of cash acquired.............
Increase 1n other assefs. ...t ittt eneeeeeneenns

Net cash used in investing activities..............

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds (payments) on line of credit.................
Payments on long-term debt....... ...
Proceeds from preferred stock issuance............cceueee...
Proceeds from common stock issuance, net of offering

Costs associated with exchange of preferred stock.........
Proceeds from stock options and warrants exercised........
Common stock repurchased. ...... ..ttt ineeeeeeeeennnnns
Increase (decrease) 1in subscription receivables...........
Net cash provided by financing activities..........

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

EQUIVALENE S . i ittt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period..............

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period....................

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest pPadd. ...ttt ittt e e e e e et e e

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Series D preferred stock exchanged for series E preferred

Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations........

Warrants issued in conjunction with subordinated notes

(1,699) (4,024) (5,247)
1,927 (346) (485)
(57) (860) (1,171)

138 2,001 858
(4,943) 1,334 7,210
2,294 3,666 6,702

— — 108
(2,305) — —
(10,473) (19, 949) 2,323
— — (49, 628)

— — (2,558)

— — 15,449
(1,470) (3,916) (3,809)
— 2,557 —

— (550) —

— — 29

(16) (236) (179)
(1,486) (2,145) (40,743)
(2,790) 6,740 (6,740)
(3,460) (4,959) (2,004)
9,985 19,842 —
419 288 113,800

—_— (23) —_—

— — 9,845

(30) — —

12 (13) (13)

4,136 21,875 114,915

— 15 (24)
(7,823) (204) 77,380
10,147 2,324 2,120

$ 2,324 $ 2,120 $ 79,500
$ 777 $ 695 $ 665
$ 9,989 $ - $ —
$ — $ 19,974 $ —
$ 179 $ 477 $ —
$ - $ -= $ 1,904
$ — s — s 191
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
F-6
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

FirePond, Inc., together with its wholly owned subsidiaries (the
"Company"), is a leading global provider of integrated e-business sales and
marketing solutions that enable companies to optimize their customer
relationships and maximize the effectiveness of their Internet-based and
traditional sales channels. The Company provides software and services that
allow its customers to merge their e-commerce selling, customer relationship
management, and channel management strategies on a single, Internet-based
platform.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
FirePond, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(b) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue based on the provisions of Statement of
Position, or SOP, No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP No.
98-4 and SOP No. 98-9, and SOP No. 81-1, Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.

The Company generates revenue from two primary sources: (1) product-related
license and service revenue and (2) custom development service revenue.

Product—-Related Revenue

Product-related license revenue is generated from licensing the rights to
the use of the Company's packaged software products. Product-related service
revenue 1s generated from sales of maintenance, consulting and training services
performed for customers that license the Company's products.

The Company has concluded that the implementation services are essential to
the customer's use of the packaged software products in arrangements where the
Company is responsible for implementation services. As such, the Company
recognizes revenue for these arrangements following the percentage-of-completion
method over the implementation period. Percentage of completion is measured by
the percentage of implementation hours incurred to date compared to estimated
total implementation hours. This method is used because management has
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determined that past experience has shown expended hours to be the best measure
of progress on these engagements. When the current estimates of total contract
revenue and contract cost indicate a loss, a provision for the entire loss on
the contract is recorded, see note 12.

In situations where the Company is not responsible for implementation
services, the Company recognizes revenue on delivery of the packaged software if
there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, collection is probable, the fee
is fixed or determinable and vendor-specific objective evidence exists to
allocate the total fees to all elements of the arrangement.

In situations where the Company is not responsible for implementation
services and is also obligated to provide unspecified additional software
products in the future, the Company recognizes revenue as a subscription over
the term of the commitment period.

Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on the price charged when an
element is sold separately or, in the case of an element not yet sold
separately, the price established by authorized management, if it is
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FIREPOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

probable that the price, once established, will not change before market
introduction. Elements included in multiple-element arrangements could consist
of software products, upgrades, enhancements, maintenance, consulting and
training services.

Revenue from maintenance services is recognized ratably over the term of
the contract, typically one year. Consulting revenue is primarily related to
implementation services performed on a time-and-materials basis under separate
service arrangements. Revenue from consulting and training services is
recognized as services are performed.

The Company generally bills for services on a monthly basis. The Company
generally bills for product license fees upon commencement of the contract,
however, in some situations the Company may delay billing based on the terms of
the contract. The Company has recorded deferred revenue on amounts billed or
collected by the Company before satisfying the above revenue recognition
criteria. Deferred revenue consisted of the following:

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

ProdUCE 1iCeN S . ittt it it e ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e $4,404 $ 8,740
Product-related ServViCesS . ... it ittt et teeeeeeeneeneeanns 242 1,344
Product-related maintenance. .. ... ..ttt tnetneennennns 1,030 2,865
Custom development ServViCeS. ... .ttt ttteeeeeeeeennenns 2,604 2,258

$8,280 $15,207

Unbilled product license fees for which the Company has not recognized or
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deferred revenue totaled $3,900,000 at October 31, 1999 and $5,923,000 at
October 31, 2000.

Custom Development Services Revenues

The Company performs custom development services under fixed-price
contracts, for which revenue is recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method. These services consist of the development of highly customized
applications utilizing core software technology. These contracts typically range
in terms of one to five years. Percentage of completion is measured by the
percentage of implementation hours incurred to date to estimated total
implementation hours. This method is used because management considers expended
hours to be the best measure of progress on these engagements. When the current
estimates of total contract revenue and contract cost indicate a loss, a
provision for the entire loss on the contract is recorded, see note 12.

The Company also provides ongoing services related to custom development
projects including software and data maintenance. Revenue from these
arrangements is recognized as the services are performed.

Unbilled services represent amounts due to the Company under custom
development service agreements for work performed that had not been billed as of
the period end. The Company bills customers under custom development contracts
upon achieving performance milestones or by billing dates, as specified in the
contracts.

(c) Cost of Revenues

Cost of licenses includes the cost of media, product packaging,
documentation and other production costs.

Cost of product-related services and maintenance and cost of custom
development services revenues consist primarily of salaries, related costs for
development, consulting, training and customer support personnel, including cost
of services provided by third-party consultants engaged by the Company and the
amortization of capitalized software development costs, see note 2(m).

F-8
43
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company accounts for cash equivalents based on the guidance in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, SFAS, No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Cash equivalents are
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three
months or less. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair
market value. Cash equivalents at October 31, 1999 and October 31, 2000
consisted of interest-bearing bank deposits, money market accounts and
commercial paper as follows:

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
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Cash and cash equivalents:

L= o $2,120 $ 7,186
Money market aCCOUNES. .t ittt ittt ettt e eeeeeeeeeanns - 4,095
COMMETCIlal PAPE e v v vttt ettt ettt ee e et eaeeeeeeeeeaeeens - 68,219

Total cash and cash equivalents................. $2,120 $79,500

(e) Short-term Investments

In accordance with SFAS No. 115 and based on the Company's intentions
regarding these instruments, the Company has classified all short-term
investments as available-for-sale. These investments consist of commercial paper
and corporate notes and bonds with an original maturity of less than a year. At
October 31, 2000, other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity included an
unrealized holding loss of $4,000.

OCTOBER 31,

1999 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)

Short-term investments, at fair wvalue:
Commercial paper (average 64 remaining days to

0TS 6 a2 $ —— $15,329

Corporate notes and bonds (average 148 remaining days to
10 o B i —— 21,404
Total short-term investmentsS.........ooiueeeeennn. S — $36, 733

(f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using
the straight line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
generally two to seven years. The cost of equipment acquired under a capital
lease is amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the estimated
useful life of the assets. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred and major improvements are capitalized. The cost of assets retired or
disposed of and the accumulated depreciation thereon are removed from the
accounts with any gain or loss realized upon sale or disposal credited or
charged to operations, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
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Property and equipment:

Computer equipment . ... .ottt it ettt eeeeennnaeeeeennnn $7,251 $10,584
Furniture and fixtUresS. ... ..ttt ittt teetneennnnn 1,791 2,039
Leasehold improvement S . @ittt i ittt ittt eeneenns 541 746
9,583 13,369

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization......... (3,535) (6,482)
Property and equipment, Net........c.c.eeiieennnnnneen. $6,048 $ 6,887

Depreciation expense was $2,081,000 for fiscal 1998, $2,590,000 for fiscal
1999 and $3,021,000 for fiscal 2000.

(g) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets, including
intangible assets, based on the guidance in SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. The
Company's evaluation considers nonfinancial data such as changes in the
operating environment and business strategy, competitive information, market
trends and operating performance. Based on this evaluation, the Company recorded
an asset impairment charge of $1,532,000 during fiscal 1999 in connection with
the relocation of the Company's corporate headquarters from Minnesota to
Massachusetts, see note 5.

(h) Concentration of Credit Risk

SFAS No. 105, Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with
Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with Concentrations of Credit
Risk, requires disclosure of any significant off-balance-sheet risks and credit
risk concentrations. The Company has no significant off-balance-sheet risks or
credit risk concentrations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to concentrations of credit risk are principally cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and unbilled services.
The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with established financial
institutions. The Company's credit risk is managed by investing its cash in high
quality money market instruments and high quality corporate issuers.
Concentration of credit risk related to accounts receivable and unbilled
services 1s limited to several customers to whom the Company makes substantial
sales. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers and has
recorded allowances for estimated losses. The Company has not experienced any
material losses related to receivables or unbilled services from individual
customers, geographic regions or groups of customers. Due to these factors, no
additional credit risk beyond amounts that have been provided for, is believed
by management to be inherent in the Company's accounts receivable or unbilled
services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

The following table summarizes the number of customers that individually
comprise greater than 10% of total revenue or total accounts receivable and
their aggregate percentage of the Company's total revenues and accounts
receivable:
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

REVENUE @

PERCENT OF

NUMBER OF TOTAL NUMBER OF
CUSTOMERS REVENUE CUSTOMERS
Fiscal year ended:
October 31, 1998...... .. i, 3 47% 3
October 31, 1999...... ... ... 2 38% 3
October 31, 2000..... ..., 2 32% 2

(i) Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, which
include cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, unbilled
services, restricted cash and current portion of long-term debt, approximate
their carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

(j) Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, requires the
measurement of the fair value of employee and director stock options or warrants
to be included in the statement of operations or disclosed in the notes to
financial statements. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation for
employees and directors under the Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and follows the
disclosure-only alternative under SFAS No. 123, see note 10(e). The Company
accounts for options and warrants granted to non-employees using the fair-value
method prescribed by SFAS No. 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, No.
96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to other than Employees
for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods, or Services.

(k) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. This
statement establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments, including derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and
for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 137, is effective
for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. SFAS No.
133 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements upon adoption in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.

In March 2000, the FASB issued Interpretation Number 44, Accounting for
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation —-- An Interpretation of APB
No. 25. The Interpretation clarifies the application of APB No. 25 in certain
situations, as defined. The Interpretation was effective on July 1, 2000 but
covers certain events having occurred after December 15, 1998. To the extent
that events covered by the Interpretation occur during the period after December
15, 1998, but before the issuance of the Interpretation, the effects of applying
this Interpretation would be recognized on a prospective basis from the
effective date. Accordingly, upon initial application of the Interpretation, (a)
no adjustment would be made to financial statements for the periods before the
effective date and (b) no expense would be recognized for any additional
compensation cost measured that is attributed to periods before the effective
date. The adoption of this Interpretation did not have a material impact on the
accompanying financial statements.

PERCENT OF
TOTAL
ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (SAB 101), Revenue Recognition, was
issued in December 1999. On March 24, 2000, the SEC deferred implementation of
SAB 101 until the second calendar quarter of 2000, and on June 26, 2000,
implementation was further deferred until the fourth quarter of calendar 2000.
The Company 1is required to comply with this guidance no later than the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2001. The Company does not believe the adoption of this
guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

(1) Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are translated based on
the guidance in SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Under SFAS No. 52,
assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated into
U.S. dollars at current exchange rates, and income and expense items are
translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Gains and
losses arising from translation are accumulated as a separate component of
stockholders' equity (deficit). Gains and losses arising from transactions
denominated in foreign currencies are included in other income and were not
material for the periods presented.

(m) Computer Software Development Costs and Research and Development Expenses

The Company continues to incur software development costs associated with
its licensed products as well as new products. Since June 1997, the Company
determined that technological feasibility occurs upon the successful development
of a working model, which happens late in the development cycle and close to
general release of the products. Because the development costs incurred between
the time technological feasibility is established and general release of the
product are not material, the Company expenses these costs as incurred. Through
May 1997, the Company capitalized $532,000 of costs related to the development
of its first software product based on the guidance of SFAS No. 86 Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed.
These costs were amortized over three years through October 31, 1999.
Amortization of these costs was charged to costs of product licenses and was
$177,000 in fiscal 1998, $177,000 in fiscal 1999.

3. NET LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share is computed based on the guidance of SFAS No. 128,
FEarnings per Share. SFAS No. 128 requires companies to report both basic loss
per share, which is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, and
diluted loss per share, which is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
plus the weighted average dilutive potential common shares outstanding using the
treasury stock method. As a result of the losses incurred by the Company for
fiscal 1998, fiscal 1999 and fiscal 2000, all potential common shares were
antidilutive and were excluded from the diluted net loss per share calculations.

Under Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98,
common stock and convertible preferred stock issued or granted for nominal
consideration before the anticipated effective date of a company's initial
public offering must be included in the calculation of basic and diluted net
loss per share as i1if they had been outstanding for all periods presented. The
Company has determined that there were no issuances of common stock and

54



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

convertible preferred stock for nominal consideration.
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The following table summarizes securities outstanding as of each period-end

which were not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share since
their inclusion would be antidilutive.

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Common stock options and warrantsS........c.ouoe et ennnneennn 5,089 7,952 10,762
Convertible preferred stocCKk...... ittt teeennennnn 12,364 19,0098 -
Preferred stock warrants (note 9(C)) .. vt 190 864 -

(b) Pro Forma Net Loss Per Share

Pro forma net loss per share has been computed as described above and also
gives effect to the conversion of preferred stock that converted upon the
completion of the Company's initial public offering, using the if-converted
method, from the original date of issuance.

The following table reflects the reconciliation of the shares used in the
computation of pro forma loss per share.

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Pro forma basic and diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in

computing basic and diluted net loss per share......... 10,024 28,286
Weighted average common shares issuable upon the

conversion of preferred stock....... ... ... .. i .. 11,792 3,516
Weighted average common shares issuable upon settlement of

the priority payments. ..... .ttt ittt eennnnns 3,812 1,000
Weighted average common shares issuable upon exercise of

series F preferred stock warrants..............cvvnn.. 171 65

Weighted average common shares outstanding used in
computing pro forma basic and diluted net loss per
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4. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Payroll and related COSLS . i ittt i ittt ittt ittt eeeneeennnnns $1,740 S 4,142
(0l o ol 3,960 9,253
Total accrued liabilities.......iiiiiiienennnnnn $5,700 $13,395

5. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE
(a) Corporate Relocation

During fiscal 1999, the Company undertook a plan to relocate its corporate
offices from Mankato, Minnesota to Waltham, Massachusetts. In connection with
this plan, the Company incurred charges
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associated with asset impairments, idle lease space and employee severance
costs. The Company does not anticipate any future benefit from the costs

incurred.

The significant components of the restructuring charge in fiscal 1999 were
as follows:

(IN THOUSANDS)

Impairment of property and equipment......... $1,532
Idle 1easSe SPACE .t ittt ettt eeneeeeeneenneeeens 993
Employee severance COSES.....iviiiiiiennn. 502

$3,027

The Company was subject to a ten-year lease arrangement on its Mankato,
Minnesota facility that permitted (1) a 50% reduction in the monthly lease
obligation by providing notice one year in advance, and (2) early termination of
the lease agreement at the end of the fifth year by giving notice before the
fourth anniversary of the lease agreement. The Company had determined that
approximately 72% of the office space in Mankato was rendered idle as part of
the relocation plan. The idle lease space cost was determined in anticipation of
the Company exercising its option to reduce the lease obligation within one year
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and terminating the remaining lease obligation at the end of the fifth year.
Therefore, the present value of the portion of future lease payments for which
the Company did not anticipate any future benefit was accrued for as of October
31, 1999. In March 2000, the Company negotiated a new lease for less space,
eliminating the future obligation for the idle space in its Mankato facility. As
a result, during fiscal 2000, the Company reversed $500,000 of the restructuring
accrual representing the remaining obligation for the idle lease space.

The impairment of property and equipment component consisted primarily of
excess and obsolete office furniture and computer equipment located in the
Mankato facility. The Company determined that this equipment would have no
future benefit to the Company. The Company has removed these fixed assets from
service and has commenced the process of disposing of this equipment. The
Company does not expect the proceeds from disposition to be significant. The
Company ceased depreciation of the fixed assets concurrent with the
establishment of the restructuring plan.

The employee severance cost component of the restructuring charge was
related to reductions in headcount. Under the plan, the Company terminated 12
general and administrative personnel. In October 1999, the Company's chairman,
who was located in the Mankato office, resigned. As part of his resignation, the
Company agreed to pay severance costs of $402,000. These costs have been
included as part of the severance component of the restructuring reserve.

(b) Restructuring Reserve

A summary of the restructuring reserve is as follows:

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

Restructuring reserve:

Balance, beginning of period..........uiiiiiiieeenn. $ 1,583 $ 304 $1,247
Reversal of provision........c.ceeiiiiiiiennneennnsn - - (500)
= oo Ve I T o 3 o U —— 3,027 ——
Asset impairment write-offs.......... ... ... ... —— (1,532) ——
Severance and other payments............coooinn... (1,279) (552) (605)

Balance, end oO0f pPeriod. ...t ettt neeennneeeenns $ 304 $ 1,247 S 142
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The Company estimates that the $142,000 balance of the restructuring
accrual will be paid in fiscal 2001.

6. FINANCINGS

Effective September 29, 1999, the Company amended its line of credit
agreement with a financial institution to increase the total commitment to
$7,000,000. This additional commitment was reached through the conversion of
$2,000,000 outstanding borrowings on the existing line of credit to a term loan
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and establishing a new line of credit. Borrowings under the new line of credit
were limited to the lesser of $5,000,000 or 80% of qualifying accounts
receivable, as defined. The amended line of credit and term loan were scheduled
to mature on October 31, 2000. Interest on the original line and the amended
line was charged at the prime rate, which was 8.25% at October 31, 1999, plus
2.0%, limited to a minimum of 8.0% per year, and was payable monthly. The
Company also paid a fee of 0.5% per year on the unused line of credit.
Substantially all of the Company's tangible and intangible assets were pledged
as collateral against the line of credit. All amounts outstanding under this
line as well as the term loan were paid in full during fiscal 2000.

Long-term debt obligations consist of the following:

OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Notes payable in varying monthly installments, including

interest at 6.0% to 11.0%, through June 2001............ $1, 644 $ 345
Capital lease obligations payable in varying monthly

installments, including interest at 8.0% to 11.0%,

through April 2001 . ... ittt it e ettt ettt eee e eeaeenns 371 58
2,015 403

Less —— current pPOrLion. ...ttt ittt ittt 1,313 403
S 702 $ -

On November 12, 1999, the Company issued subordinated notes payable
totaling $6,000,000 to an outside investor and two existing stockholders of the
Company. The subordinated notes bore interest at 12.0% per year and were due
upon the earlier of the closing of the Company's initial public offering or
November 11, 2000. The subordinated note payable was subject to conversion into
preferred shares, as defined. The Company also issued to the holders of the
subordinated notes payable warrants to purchase an aggregate of 360,000 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $5.25 per share. The estimated fair
value of these warrants totaling $2,789,000 was determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model with the following variables: risk-free interest
rate of 6.0%, dividend yield rate of 0%, term of twelve years, and volatility of
80%. The Company allocated the proceeds from the subordinated notes payable of
$6,000,000 in proportion to the relative fair values of both the warrants and
the subordinated notes payable. As a result, the Company recorded the warrants
as a discount totaling $1,904,000 against the carrying value of the subordinated
notes payable, with the discount amortized to interest expense over the term of
the subordinated notes payable. In conjunction with the Company's initial public
offering in February 2000, the Company repaid the $6,000,000 of subordinated
notes plus accrued interest of $180,000. As a result, in the year ended October
31, 2000, the Company recorded a $1,437,000 loss on extinguishment of debt as an
extraordinary item for the amount of unamortized discount at the time of
repayment.

7. INCOME TAXES
Income taxes are accounted for based on guidance in SFAS No. 109,

Accounting for Income Taxes. Under SFAS No. 109, deferred income tax liabilities
and assets are determined based on the difference between the financial

58



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax
rates.
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The income tax provisions for the entirety of each period are as follows:

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Y L ot $(3,074) $(5,882) $(4,588)
State taxes, net of federal benefits.................. (588) (1,053) (821)
@ I 5 o PP —— (3,982) (996)
[ oL 216 1,099 89
Net operating loss not benefited...................... 3,446 9,818 6,316

s - s - s -

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company's net
deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities) are comprised primarily of
the following:

OCTOBER 31,

1999 2000
Net operating losses and credit carryforwards.......... $ 17,765 $ 23,888
Nondeductible reserves and accrualsS.......o.eeeeeeenenenen.. 2,722 3,545
Depreciation and amortization...........c.oiiiiiiennnn.. (1,365) 23
[l o L - 139
Valuation @lloWanCe . v v v v it it ittt teeeeeeeneeneeeneenns (19,122) (27,595)
$ - s -

As of October 31, 2000, the Company has available net operating losses of
approximately $46 million to reduce future federal and state income taxes, if
any. This carryforward expires beginning in fiscal 2012 and may be subject to
review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service. Utilization of
these carryforwards may be subject to substantial limitations due to the
ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Service Code of
1986. The Company's wholly owned foreign subsidiaries have net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $16 million.

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
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(a) Litigation

The Company is engaged in legal proceedings incidental to the normal course
of business. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be
determined, management believes that the final disposition of these proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position
or the results of operations of the Company.

(b) Leases
The Company leases its office space under operating leases expiring at
various dates through December 2004. Rent expense under these agreements totaled
approximately $746,000 for fiscal 1998, $2,349,000 in fiscal 1999 and $2,882,000
in fiscal 2000.
F-16
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At October 31, 2000, the minimum future obligations under operating leases
are as follows:

(IN THOUSANDS)

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31,

2/ $2,278
2/ 1,805
2/ 0 1,609
2004 . i e e e e e et e e 1,215
2/ 00 181
Thereafter. ...ttt ettt et iiieeeenn -

$7,088

(c) Letter of Credit

The Company is obligated to maintain an irrevocable standby letter of
credit of approximately $550,000, which would be payable upon default of the
Company's noncancelable facility lease that was entered into in May 1999. The
letter of credit has been collateralized by cash, which has been classified as
restricted cash in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(a) Recapitalization
On November 8, 1999, the Company's board of directors approved a
two-for-three reverse stock split of its common stock. The stock split was
effective on January 4, 2000. All shares and per share amounts of common stock
for all periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock

splits.

Upon the closing of the initial public offering in February 2000, the



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

Company's certificate of incorporation was amended and restated to change its
authorized capital stock to 100,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock
and 5,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock.

(b) Initial Public Offering

On February 4, 2000, the Company completed its initial public offering of
5,000,000 shares of common stock. Additionally, on February 25, 2000, the
underwriters of the initial public offering exercised their over-allotment
option to purchase an additional 666,666 shares. At the offering price of $22.00
per share, the Company received $113.8 million from these transactions, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.
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(c) Preferred Stock

The following table summarizes the number of shares designated, issued and
outstanding:

OCTOBER 31,

1999 2000

Series A convertible preferred stock; -- 4,188,880

shares designated. . ... ...ttt eeennn 4,188,880 ——
Series B convertible preferred stock; —-- 190,438

shares designated. . ... ..ottt iineenneeennnn - -
Series C convertible preferred stock; —-- 570,342

shares designated. .......i ittt iineenneeeennn 570,342 -
Series D convertible preferred stock; -- 100,000

shares designated. ..... ..ottt eennnn - -
Series E convertible preferred stock; -- 7,604,563

shares designated. .......i ittt iineneneeennnn - -
Series F convertible preferred stock; -- 7,407,409

shares designated. . ... ..ot iineenneeeennn 6,734,008 ——
Series G convertible preferred stock; -- 7,604,563

shares designated. .......iiiiiiii it eennnn 7,604,563 ——

In May 1997, the Company sold 4,188,880 shares of series A preferred stock
at $2.63 per share. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase 190,438
shares of series B preferred stock at an exercise price of $19.69 per share.

In July 1997, the Company sold 570,342 shares of series C preferred stock
at $2.63 per share.

In October 1997, the Company sold 100,000 shares of series D preferred
stock at $100.00 per share.

In April 1998, the Company sold 3,802,282 shares of series E preferred
stock at $2.63 per share. In connection with the series E preferred stock
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financing, the Company exchanged 100,000 outstanding shares of series D
preferred stock for 3,802,281 shares of series E preferred stock.

In February 1999, the Company sold 6,734,008 shares of series F preferred
stock at $2.97 per share. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase
673,401 shares of series F preferred stock at an exercise price of $3.56 per
share. In connection with the series F preferred stock financing, the Company
exchanged 7,604,563 outstanding shares of series E preferred stock for 7,604,563
shares of series G preferred stock.

Conversion

Each outstanding share of series A, series C, series F and series G
preferred stock was convertible at the option of the holder and was
automatically converted into 0.67 shares of common stock, for a total of
12,731,862 shares, upon the closing of the initial public offering of the
Company's common stock on February 4, 2000. Based on the offering price per
share of the initial price range for the initial public offering, the conversion
rate for the outstanding shares of series F preferred stock was adjusted to
include the issuance of 404,039 additional shares of common stock.

Priority Payments

The Company's previously outstanding series A, series C and series G
preferred stock, as well as shares of the Company's common stock held by some
common stockholders, had rights that allowed holders to receive a priority
payment upon the completion of the Company's initial public offering. These
priority payments
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totaled $35,750,000 for the series A, series C and series G preferred
stockholders, and $10,000,000 to some of the holders of the Company's common
stock. These amounts were payable in cash, or, at the Company's option, a number
of shares of common stock determined by dividing the amount payable by $12.00.
The Company's board of directors elected to make these payments as a stock
dividend of 3,812,588 shares of common stock upon consummation of the Company's
initial public offering. At the initial public offering price of $22.00 per
share, the value of the stock dividend to preferred shareholders totaled
$65,542,000 and the value of the stock dividend to some of the holders of the
Company's common stock totaled $18,334,000. As a result, during the year ended
October 31, 2000, the Company recorded a stock dividend on the preferred stock
of $65,542,000 increasing the loss attributable to common stockholders.

(d) Stock Options and Warrants

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 stock option plan for the grant
of stock options to key employees, nonemployee directors and consultants. On
November 8, 1999 the board of directors adopted and on January 4, 2000 the
stockholders approved an increase in the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under this plan from 7,896,815 shares to 9,396,815 shares.
The exercise price and vesting are determined by the board of directors at the
date of grant. Options generally vest over two to four years and expire ten
years after the date of grant. As of October 31, 2000, 1,005,864 shares were
available for future issuance under the 1997 plan.

In September 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 director stock option plan
for the grant of stock options to non-employee directors. The Company has
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reserved 500,000 shares of common stock for issuance under this plan. As of
October 31, 2000, 266,666 shares were available for future issuance under this
plan.

On November 8, 1999 the board of directors adopted and on January 4, 2000
the stockholders approved the 1999 stock option and grant plan under which
3,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock were reserved for future
issuance. The exercise price and vesting are determined by the board of
directors at the date of grant. Options generally vest over two to four years
and expire ten years after the date of grant. As of October 31, 2000, 56,073
shares were available for future issuance under the 1999 plan.

The Company granted options to purchase 159,579 shares of common stock to
consultants for services performed during fiscal 1998. The estimated fair value
of these options totaling $593,000 has been recorded as stock-based compensation
expense in the accompanying fiscal 1998 consolidated statement of operations. In
October 1999, the Company also issued a warrant to a strategic partner to
purchase 83,334 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.22 per share,
vesting over three years. The estimated value of this warrant was $463,000 at
the time of grant. Under EITF 96-18, the fair value of this warrant is marked to
market over the vesting period. The Company recorded stock-based compensation
expense of approximately $79,000 in fiscal 2000 related to this grant. In
November 1999, in connection with a consulting arrangement the Company issued a
warrant to purchase an aggregate of 207,900 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $7.22 per share, exercisable within one year of the Company's
initial public offering. The value of the consulting arrangement was $1.0
million and has been recorded as stock based compensation expense in fiscal
2000.

In January 2000, the Company issued fully vested warrants in connection
with license arrangements to two customers to purchase a total of 36,667 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $11.00 per share. In July 2000, the
Company issued a fully vested warrant to a customer to purchase 10,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $35.94 per share. The estimated value of
these warrants totaled $409,000 at the time of grant and were recorded as
reductions in the amount of future revenue to be recognized associated with
these customers. In addition, during February 2000 in connection with a
strategic business alliance, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 33,333
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $14.00 per share. In accordance
with EITF 96-18,the Company adjusts the value of this grant to market over its
vesting period. As of October 31, 2000, warrants to purchase 19,403 shares
vested and, accordingly, the Company recorded a stock-based compensation charge
of $320,000.
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The Company has granted stock options to employees and non-employees that
require the recognition of stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based
compensation related to grants to employees represents the amortization, over
the vesting period of the option, of the difference between the exercise price
of options and the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date
of grant. Stock-based compensation related to grants to non-employees represents
the fair market value of the options granted as computed using an established
option valuation formula. The Company recorded stock based compensation expense
of $2,597,000 and $3,314,000 in the fiscal years ended October 31, 1999 and
2000, respectively related to these options. As of October 31, 2000, the
deferred compensation balance was $6,077,000 and will be recognized as an
expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options for options
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granted to employees and as earned for non-employees in accordance with EITF
96-18.

During fiscal 2000, the Company modified the terms of three employee stock
option agreements, including an extended period to exercise in connection with
termination and net exercise with immature shares. These modifications resulted
in a stock-based compensation charge of $1.8 million.

Option activity for fiscal 1998, fiscal 1999 and fiscal 2000 was as
follows:

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
NUMBER PRICE EXERCISE
OF SHARES PER SHARE PRICE
Outstanding, October 31, 1997................. 1,483,034 $3.95 $ 3.95
Granted. .ttt e e e e e 3,961,213 3.95 3.95
= e o 1= =Y (20,067) 3.95 3.95
Canceled. c ittt ettt ettt e e (535,603) 3.95 3.95
Outstanding, October 31, 1998................. 4,888,577 3.95 3.95
Granted. ..ttt et e e e 3,717,189 3.95 - 7.22 4.41
L= e o 1= =Y (35,169) 3.95 3.95
Canceled. t ittt ettt ettt e e (915,476) 3.95 - 4.46 3.98
Outstanding, October 31, 1999................. 7,655,121 3.95 - 7.22 4.17
Granted. .ttt et e e e e 5,216,092 0.01 - 96.00 12.60
EXErCIsed. i ittt ettt ettt ettt eeieaeeeeeeenn (1,642,502 3.95 - 11.00 4.09
Canceled. t ittt ettt e ettt e e (1,360,746) 3.95 - 96.00 8.09
Outstanding, October 31, 2000................. 9,867,965 $0.01 - $63.88 $ 8.09
Exercisable, October 31, 2000........00uuuunun.. 3,142,928 $0.01 - $29.75 $ 5.48
Exercisable, October 31, 1999................. 2,547,069 $3.95 - § 7.22 $ 4.02
Exercisable, October 31, 1998.........c0uuu... 804,119 $3.95 $ 3.95
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The following table summarizes information relating to currently
outstanding and exercisable options as of October 31, 2000.
OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE
WEIGHTED AVERAGE WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
REMAINING AVERAGE AVERAGE
RANGE OF NUMBER CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE NUMBER EXERCISE

EXERCISE PRICES OF SHARES LIFE (YEARS) PRICE OF SHARES PRICE
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$0.01 - 5.00 4,804,759 7.9 $ 4.09 2,456,304 $ 4.03
7.22 - 11.00 3,818,806 9.3 9.44 569,874 9.39
14.00 - 21.81 1,154,899 9.7 17.21 110,750 16.09
22.00 - 31.75 36,501 9.5 24.24 6000 29.75
55.88 - 63.88 53,000 9.4 63.42 - -
$0.01 - 63.88 9,867,965 8.7 $ 8.09 3,142,928 $ 5.48

The weighted average grant date fair value and weighted average exercise
price for options granted in fiscal 2000 whose exercise price was equal to the
fair market value on the date of grant was $11.33 and $12.68 per share,
respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value and weighted average
exercise price for options granted in fiscal 2000 whose exercise price was less
than fair value on the date of grant was $18.40 and $2.68 per share,
respectively.

In connection with the series A preferred stock financing in May 1997, the
Company issued a warrant to the investment funds affiliated with GAP to purchase
190,438 shares of series B preferred stock at an exercise price of $19.69 per
share, exercisable in full, through May 2002. The price paid for this warrant
was $1,000. Upon the Company's initial public offering in February 2000, this
warrant was automatically converted into a warrant to purchase 634,794 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $5.91 per share. As of October 31, 2000,
this warrant remained outstanding.

In July 1997, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 200,000 shares of
common stock to a vendor at $3.95 per share, exercisable in full, through 2007.
The warrant was issued in consideration for services to be received from the
vendor. The estimated value of the warrant totaled $450,000 and was recorded in
stock-based compensation expense in fiscal 1997. The warrant was exercised in
full in February 2000. In addition, in July 1997, that vendor purchased 190,114
shares of series C preferred stock for $500,000.

In connection with the series F preferred stock financing in February 1999,
the Company sold warrants to purchase 673,401 shares of series F preferred stock
at an exercise price of $3.56 per share. The price paid for this warrant was
$1,000. Following the Company's initial public offering, these warrants were
exercised in February 2000 through the voluntary payment of the exercise price
by the warrant holder.

In October 1999, the Company approved the future issuance of warrants to
purchase 500,000 shares of common stock to customers and strategic partners. In
fiscal 1999, warrants to purchase a total of 96,666 were issued and remain
outstanding at October 31, 2000. In fiscal 2000, warrants to purchase a total of
287,900 were issued and 162,814 remain outstanding at October 31, 2000. As of
October 31, 2000, 115,434 shares of common stock remain available to be issued
from the approved pool of 500,000 shares.

(e) Pro Forma Stock-Based Compensation

Under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, the Company is
required to disclose the pro forma effects on net income (loss) and net income
(loss) per share as if the Company had elected to use the fair value approach to
account for all of its employee stock-based compensation plans beginning in
fiscal 1997.
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The Company has computed the pro forma disclosures required under SFAS No.
123 for options granted during fiscal 1998, fiscal 1999 and fiscal 2000 using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model prescribed by SFAS No. 123. The weighted
average assumptions used were as follows:

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999 2000

Risk-free interest rate.................. 4.2% - 5.8% 4.5% - 5.8% 5.7% - 6.7%
Expected dividend yield.................. - - -
Expected l1ivesS....ii e eeeeeennneeeenns 5 years 5 years 5 years
Expected volatility.......cooiiii.... 80% 80% 100%
Weighted average grant date fair value... $2.67 $4.75 $11.36
Weighted average remaining contractual

life of options outstanding............ 7.6 years 8.6 years 8.7 years

Had compensation cost for the Company's plan been determined consistent
with the fair value approach enumerated in SFAS No. 123, the Company's pro forma
net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been as follows:

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Net loss applicable to shareholders, as

By Y Yo i it Y P S (9,041) $(28,855) $ (81,884)
Net loss applicable to shareholders, pro forma.... (13,214) (37,359) (102,027)
Diluted net loss per share, as reported........... S  (0.91) S (2.88) S (2.89)
Diluted net loss per share, pro forma............. (1.33) (3.73) (3.61)

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for use in estimating
the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are
fully transferable. In addition, option pricing models require the input of
highly subjective assumptions including expected stock price volatility. Because
the Company's employee stock options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

(f) Other Common Stock Issuances and Repurchases
During fiscal 1998, the Company sold 86,061 shares of its common stock at
$3.95 per share to a third party and also repurchased 7,600 shares of its
outstanding common stock from a stockholder for $3.95 per share.
In September 1999, the Company sold 33,334 shares of its common stock at

$4.46 per share to an officer of the Company. The Company recorded stock-based
compensation expense of $130,000 to reflect the below fair market value purchase
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price.
10. PROFIT-SHARING PLAN

The Company sponsors a defined contribution profit-sharing plan which
conforms to Internal Revenue Service provisions for 401 (k) plans. Employees must
be at least 21 years of age to be eligible to participate in the plan.
Participants may contribute up to 15% of their earnings. The Company matches 50%
of the first 2% and 25% of the next 4% of employee contributions and may make
additional contributions as determined by the board of directors. Operations
have been charged for contributions to the plan of approximately $324,000 for
fiscal 1998, $551,000 for fiscal 1999 and $463,000 for fiscal 2000.
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11. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company contracts with a third party, Soft 0S, to provide software
development and implementation services on an outsourced basis. Soft OS
subcontracts to have these services provided to us by Effective Programming, a
development organization located in Minsk, Belarus, and EPAM Systems, a related
development organization located in New Jersey. Under this arrangement,
Effective Programming and EPAM Systems provide software developers dedicated to
the Company's projects to develop products and application functionality based
on specifications provided by the Company and to provide implementation services
to the Company's customers. The agreement with Soft OS expires in February 2002.
As of October 31, 2000, approximately 156 employees and contractors of Effective
Programming and EPAM Systems, respectively were performing services for the
Company. Effective Programming and EPAM Systems are majority owned by one of the
Company's employees.

Software development and cost of product-related services costs under this
contract which have been expensed in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations were $1,920,000 and $4,530,000 for fiscal years ended October 31,
1999 and 2000, respectively. The Company believes that the terms of this
agreement were negotiated on an arms-length basis.

12. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

A summary of the allowance for doubtful accounts and reserve for loss
contracts is as follows:

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Balance, beginning of period........c.uiiiiiiinnnnnn.. S 100 S 290 $ 410
Provision for doubtful accounts.................... 318 120 705
e Tl S = (128) —= —=
Balance, end O0f pPeriod.. ...ttt teeeeennnaneens S 290 $ 410 $1,115

Reserve for loss contracts:
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Balance, beginning of period........c.uiiiiiinnnnnenn. $ 5,238 $1,000 $ 500
Provision (reduction) for loss contracts reserve... (2,379) —— 100
Payments and/or costs incurred...........ceovieen... (1,859) (500) -

Balance, end O0f pPeriod. . ... ii it ittt eeeeennnnneens $ 1,000 $ 500 $ 600

In fiscal 1998, the Company revised its estimated loss reserve requirements
due to the resolution of contingencies identified in fiscal 1997. As a result,
the Company recorded a reduction of $2,859,000 in the cost of custom development
services in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations in fiscal
1998. In fiscal 1998 and 2000, the Company also recorded a provision of $480,000
and $100,000, respectively, for estimated losses on other contracts.

13. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has adopted SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information, which establishes standards for reporting
information related to operating segments in annual financial statements and
requires selected information for those segments to be presented in interim
financial reports issued to stockholders. SFAS No. 131 also establishes
standards for related disclosures about products and services and geographic
areas. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which
separate, discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the
chief operating decision maker,
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or decision-making group, in making decisions how to allocate resources and
assess performance. The Company's chief operating decision maker, as defined
under SFAS No. 131, is its chief executive officer.

The Company views its operations and manages its business as two segments,
product-related licenses and services and custom development services. The
Company's reportable segments are strategic business units that provide distinct
services to the end customer. They are managed separately because each business
segment requires different marketing and management strategies. The Company's
approach is based on the way that management organizes the segments within the
Company for making operating decisions and assessing performance.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in
the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company does not allocate
operating expenses between its two reportable segments. Therefore, the Company's
measure of performance for each reportable segment is based on total net revenue
and direct costs of services, which are reported separately in the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of operations and no additional disclosure is
required. The Company does not identify assets and liabilities by segment and
therefore, identifiable assets, capital expenditures and depreciation and
amortization are not reported by segment.

The majority of the Company's revenues are derived from the United States,
with approximately 28% coming from foreign countries. Revenues from contracts
entered into by our Netherlands subsidiaries contributed approximately 15% of
our fiscal 2000 revenues. No single country contributed greater than 10% of our
total revenues in fiscal 1999 or 1998.

14. SIGNATURE ACQUISITION



Edgar Filing: FIREPOND INC - Form 10-K

On September 27, 2000, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger between
the Company and Signature Software, Inc. (Signature) (the Purchase agreement),
the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
of Signature, an information technology consulting firm. The Company acquired
the capital shares of Signature in exchange for $30,000 in cash and the issuance
of 276,266 shares of restricted common stock to two shareholders of Signature.
The Company also incurred approximately $224,000 in acquisition related fees and
expenses. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB
No. 16. Accordingly, the results of operations of Signature have been included
in the Company's results of operations since the date of acquisition. The prior
results of Signature's operations are not material to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

The 276,266 shares of restricted common stock, valued at approximately $3.9
million, are subject to vesting through September 27, 2002 based on the
retention of certain Signature employees measured on a quarterly basis, as
defined. The value of these restricted shares will be recorded as stock based
compensation on a pro rata basis over the vesting period. Accordingly, the
Company recognized approximately $162,000 of stock-based compensation for these
shares in fiscal 2000.

The following table summarizes the transaction (in thousands) :

AMOUNT

Acquisition of Signature Software:

Fair value of assets acquired..........iiiiiiiiieennnnnns $ 415
Liabilities assumed. . v v ittt ittt ettt ettt et e te e e (567)
Cash pPaild. ..ttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e (30)
Acquisition costs d1ncurred..........iiiiiiit it 224
Costs in excess of net assets acquired.................... $ 406
F-24
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On November 28, 2000, the Company's Board of Directors approved a loan
facility to Klaus Besier, the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
allowing borrowings up to $3,000,000 bearing interest at the applicable federal
rate in effect during the term of the note. On January 9, 2001, the Company's
Board of Directors approved an increase in the loan facility to $4,000,000. The
outstanding principal together with unpaid interest is due and payable on the
earlier of October 31, 2001, an event of default, or an event of maturity, as
defined. The promissory note is secured by a pledge of 500,000 shares of common
stock of FirePond, Inc. and a covenant of cross default of other stock option
agreements between Besier and the Company. Amounts totaling $3,575,489 have been
advanced to Besier under this facility.

16. QUARTERLY STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
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The following table presents a summary of quarterly results of operations
for 1999 and 2000:

QUARTER ENDED
JANUARY 31, APRIL 30, JuLy 31, OCTOBER 31, JANUARY 31, AP
1999 1999 1999 1999 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)

Total revenue............... $ 7,186 $ 8,426 S 8,686 $ 9,987 $11,977 $

Net income (losSS)....eeuvnnno.. $(5,612) $(6,3406) $(8,691) $(8,200) $(5,823) S
Basic and diluted net loss

per share applicable to
common stockholders....... S (0.56) $ (0.63) $ (0.87) $ (0.82) $ (0.58) $
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